



THEY WERE BORN WHERE

THE TOWERING MOUNTAINS FORM

HUGE BARRIERS TO THE HOME BUILDER'S HOPE;

WHERE THE BREADWINNERS OFT WITH THE OCEAN STORM

MUST FOR LIFE AND LIFE SUSTENANCE COPE;

IT IS THEREFORE WE LOVE THEM AS NEVER BEFORE

WHEN WE THINK OVER ALL THEY HAVE DONE;

IT IS THEN THAT IN MEMORY MORE, EVER MORE,

WE ADMIRE THE LIFE COURSE THEY HAVE RUN.




- And That Is How This Work Is Most Respectfully Inscribed To

Their Memory And Dedicated To Their Children - Author.
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PREFACE




INTRODUCTORY




In submitting for publication this brief summary of names, dates, and  events  dealing with  the foundation of the beautiful settlement now known as the Watson Community, it is with the conviction that it can at the best be considered only a very modest volume in the pioneer history of this great historical community.




No Work done by human minds and hands has ever been proved perfect, hence I assure you that be there any omission of the name of any homesteader, it is to be regretted, but not intentional as if though they were not worthy.  It has been my sincere aim to include only all real pioneers in the Community, in this little work whether they lived long or died early; whether they were considered important or unimportant, whether they lived, in the community until their end, or they moved away after the grasshopper years, and before Watson was built.




Men like Heinrich Gippe farmed in the community fourteen years and all eighteen-sixty niners ten years before Watson was even certain to be built where it is now located. Watson never built the community but those men built up the whole community including the village of Watson. Therefore you will find enumerated in this work more than thirty names of homesteaders, our real pioneers, which have never before been published in any pioneer history whatsoever.




You will find in this work the following historical facts about the  Watson Community. 1 The first church bell ever inside of Minnesota and used there was the one used at The Old Lac qui Parle Indian Mission, on the western border of Chippewa county, five miles west of Watson, Minnesota. 2 The first wool cloth ever manufactured in Minnesota was spun and woven at the Old Indian Mission five miles west of Watson. 3 The first cattle raiser in Minnesota, Joseph Renville, lived five miles west of Watson twenty-four years and died and was buried there on the western border of Chippewa county in 1846. Captain, Samuel J. Sargent, Civil War Veteran, who

lived one mile northeast of Watson was, by being appointed, the first Treasurer  of  Chippewa  county which he helped organize. He was also the first elected Auditor of Chippewa county. He was also the leader  in  organizing  Tunberg township, and served as its town clerk four years, but he moved to the state of Oregon before Watson was built.




- J. J. Oyen.


CHAPTER 1




THE EARLIEST LAND OWNERS




Once there was an island in the river Warren. The Warren river filled the entire Minnesota river valley brimful between the tops of the valley bluffs. This river had a detour from Lac qui Parle lake that flowed north of Watson and covered the site of the business street in Montevideo. This was a prehistoric river, if we believe the geologists, a river that drained Lake Agazzis that covered the entire Red River valley when the glaciers during the ice age had gradually melfted and receded towards the north.




The Warren river too receded contemporaneously with the dwindling away of the mammoth Lake Agazzis to the north through the Red River. In the bed vacated by the Warren river reposes today the Minnesota river which is nothing more than a crooked stream when compared to its mighty predecessor.  Abutting the Minnesota river to the east remains still the prehistoric island and two and one half miles northeast of the river nestless the vi1lage of Watson on a northeast projection of the island and right west of the Chippewa river.




Historians and geologists have so far been unable to record exactly what species of human beings roamed about in the territory now in the Watson community previous to the era when it was first inhabited by Indian tribes. There are however evidences that aboriginal earth mound builders lived once in this community. Many such evidences have now been entirely  obliterated  by  constant plowing and other yearly agricultural processes but there used to be one such earth mound, not built by Indians, on the Hans Halvorson farm in section II in Tunsberg township, and there are some southeast of Lac qui Parle village.




The first settlers recorded by history in what is now the Watson community were the Dacotah Indians.  They were sort of nomads, it is true, but they were our earliest settlers and land owners just the same. Geologists and historians state that the Mill Lacs Minnesota territory was the center of the land they inhabited. Abundant evidences of their war and hunting operations around Lake Superior have also been found. One tribe that belongs to the Dacotah family of tribes is the Winnebagoes.  When Nicollet who was employed by  Champlain visited Green Bay Wisconsin about the year 1635 he recorded that he saw the Winnebagoes, a people called that because they claim to have come from a distant sea and he stated, “They claim to have come from the shores of a far distant sea, towards the north, whose waters are salt, they therefore call themselves ‘De L’eau Puants’, the people from the Putrid or the bad waters.”




Yes, they are the Sioux Indians, but their true name is the Dacotahs. The name Sioux is the last two syllables of an Ojibway or Chippewa Indian word meaning enemies. The Dacotahs and Chippewas were always fighting so it it is exhibit “A” in illustrating how a nickname may cling and get to be a dictionary word. They were already well known by their nickname Sioux, when the Minnesota territory was organized in 1849 and that year 1500 Indians known as the War-pay-twans called the Indian village at the south end of Lac qui Parle lake their head village.  War-pay-twans means, People of the Leaf.




From the documents of Le Sueur, explorer of the Minnesota river between the years 1692 and 1701, we learn from a summary of names of bands of Sioux Indians from the west that he mentions Quapetons, meaning Village of the Leaf, as the name of a band of western Sioux Indians. Le Sueur who called the Minnesota river St. Pierre river explored the Minnesota river at least as far west as Mankato, if not farther, and it is very probable that Lac qui Parle Indian village was in existence 400 years ago as well as in the year 1849. Le Sueur also recorded an interesting paragraph about the Sioux of the west that he claims was stated by a member of a band of Sioux Indians east of the Mississippi river, as follows:




“The Sioux of the west have more than a thousand lodges. They do not use canoes, nor cultivate the earth, nor gather wild rice.  They remain generally on the prairies which are between the upper Mississippi and Missouri rivers, and live entirely by the chase. The Sioux generally say that they have three souls, and that after death that which has done well goes to the warm country, that which has done evil to the cold regions, and that the third soul guards the body. Polygamy is common among them. They are very jealous and sometimes fight in duels for their wives. They manage the bow and arrow admirably and have been seen several times to kill ducks on the wing. They make their lodges of a number of buffalo skins interlaced and sewed, and carry them wherever they go. They are all great smokers, but their manner of smoking differs from that of other Indians. There are some Sioux who swallow all the smoke of the tobacco and there are others who after having kept it for some time in their mouths cause it to issue from their noses. In each lodge there are usually two or three men with their families.”




After Le Sueur’s exploration of the Minnesota river the number of trappers and traders increased very rapidly. Fine furs became more and more popular and in demand and here in Minnesota they could he bought from the Indians and other trappers for practically nothing. Beavers and Muskrats were then very abundant in the Chippewa and Minnesota rivers. Enormous herds of Buffalo grazed on these prairies in summers and Lac qui Parle lake and all rivers and all creeks teemed with schools of fish. Huge flocks of game birds were here to be hunted the year around, and then we read about the first merchant or trader stepping on the Watson community soil. He was J. H. Lockwood who came to the Lac qui Parle Indian village to trade with the Indians in the Year 1816.


CHAPTER 2




THE FIRST PIONEER ON WATSON COMMUNITY SOIL




Joseph Renville was born in 1779 in the vicinity of the small trading post which is now the city of St, Paul. His mother was a Dakotah Indian girl and his father was French. When Renville was

a young boy his father took him along with him to Canada where he was placed under the tutorage of a catholic priest who must have been a brilliant teacher; at any rate Renville received a splendid education from that man. Returning to the United States when he had grown to a young manhood he soon became known and admired by his fellow men for his extraiordinary ability as a linguist and was in 1779 highly recommended for the position of government interpreter amongst the Sioux Indians, and at that time he was only eighteen years old.




At the outbreak of the War between the United States and Great Britain in 1812 he was considered a Canadian and a more than average well educated British subject, hence he was promptly appointed a captain in the British army and assigned to employ and lead Indians to fight against the United States. He was present at the historic siege of Fort Meigs, and lived for a short period after the war in Canada while drawing the half pay of a British captain; but that he dld not respect the British brand of diplomacy and warfare is evident according to the following historical narrative.




Being invited by the British commandant at Drumond island to pay him a visit Joseph Renville accompanied by the Kapiosa chief Petit Carbeau went there shortly after his return from Canada. When they arrived at the post the British officer showed them a huge pile of goods which were presenats that his majesty the King of England had sent them. Then Petit Carbeau the Kapiosa Chief replied for both of them.




"Now after we have fought for you under many hardships, lost some of our people, and awakened the vengeance of our neighbors, you make peace for yourself and leave us to get such terms as we can, but, no, we will not take your presents, we hold them and you in equal contempt.”




There are to be gleaned from existing historical records abundant grains of truth to convince one that the Minnesota river’s navigation stage has been far from at the same level from time to ftime. There was apparently a semi-flood in the Minnesota river valley in the year 1820 for it is recorded that a consignment of three hundred bushels of wheat bought at Prairie Du Chien and freighted in three Mackinaw boats went up the Minnesota river, through Lac qui Parle Indian village, through Big Stone Lake, through Sioux Wood river, through Red River into Canada and finally reached the Selkirk settlement near Lake Winnepeg Canada after costing the shippers several thousand dollars.




The Columbia Fur Company was organized in the year 1822 by Joseph Renville; Precott, Laidlaw, and Jeffries. A little later this company was absorbed by the American Fur Company then managed chiefly by John Astor of New York City; and then Joseph Renville moved to Lac qui Parle Indian village for good as head trader of the American Fur Company. He built his trading post and home and cattle ranch on the western border of Chippewa county Minnesota on land only five miles west of Watson Minnesota. He was then a citizen of the United States and the earliest permanent settler, trader, and cattle raiser in the Watson community territory.




The trade with the Indians and other trappers and profits from furs must have been very remunerative during that era for in the years 1826 and 1827 the United States government licensed four traders to do business at Lac qui Parle Indian village and they were: Joseph Ezeziel Lockwood, .Joseph Montrewelle and Joseph Laframbois. Then Joseph Renville must have won all the trade in this territory or bought out all three other traders for in the years 1829 and 1830 he was the only one licensed ln this vicinity; and during the years 1833 and 1834 he was the only one licensed under the name of his trading post and cattle ranch Lac qui Parle.




Renville was busy attending to his trading post and cattle ranch when Rev. T. M. Williamsion, M. D. who was a practicing physician ln Ohio was appointed by the joint missionary society of the Presbyterian and Congregational churches to represent the society in mission work among the Dacotah Indians, and accordingly Doctor Williamson moved with his family from Fort Snelling to Lac qui Parle ln the summer of 1835. They were greeted very friendly by Renvllle when they arrived and he befriended and aided them in every possible way. The Indian mission was started and on Sept. 15, 1836 a Presbyterian church was organlzed where Renville and his wife a Dacotah Indian woman became the first' communicants. Renvllle who had been reared and educated in the Roman Church had always insisted on his personal right to private judgement and proved that he still believed in personal choice by joining the Presbyterian church.




The Lac qui Parle Indian mission in the hill side right West of the farm buildings on the Emanuel Anderson farm five miles west of Watson Chippewa County Minnesota was from then on for about a quarter of a century a very popular industrial, educational, religious and political center of the northern Mississippi valley. History records that in the summer of 1839 the famous historical character, the explorer, "The Pathfinder," Lieutenant John C. Fremont, accompanied by the famous French astronomer Jean N. Nicollet visited the Indian mission and Joseph Renville during a long vacation from duties. They must have enjoyed their visit for during their stay they arranged it so that the Mission received reimbursement for some cattle some Indians had killed.




Two years before these last mentioned famous men's visit there was a wedding at the mission which must surely have been the first Christian wedding in the Watson community. Rev. S. R. Riggs who had joined the mission in 1837 officiated and Rev. T. S. Williamson assisted with the ceremony when Miss Sarah Poage sister of the wife of Rev. T. S. Williamson was united in marriage to Gideon H. Pond. The wedding was followed by a huge wedding dinner and festival at which a great number of the Indians were guests.




The first wool cloth manufactured in the state of Minnesiota was made on the Watson community soil at the Indian mission in the year 1838. A G. Huggins an assistant missionary taught the Dacotah Indian girls how to spin wool, and also flax and how to knit socks. The following year Huggins erected a loom and they wove some cloth, mostly woolen cloth from which they made dresses for the Indian girls.




That there was nothing cheap, deceitful, or dishonest to the mental structure or disposition for our first pioneer can be vouched for with the following historical facts. A strange man came to the mission and to Renville one day. His name was Gibson and he had been driving a herd of cattle from the state of Missouri to the Selkirk settlement near Lake Winnipeg Canada. His cattle had separated and got away from him more and more until he had lost them all, and then in hunting for them he had compIetely lost his own sense of location and direction. He was totally disheartened and sick and after telling Renville about his misfortune he departed for his home. Then Renville gathered 84 head of that lost herd of strange cattle and sold them for $750, and sent the money to the unhappy drover.




During these years of mission activity the territory now occupied by the Watson community was far from safeguarded from possible scenes of blood shed. In the year 1838 a Chippewa Indian chief, Hole In The Day met eleven Dacotah Indians on the shore of the Chippewa river close to the present site of Benson. The two Indian bands met in the evening and visited each other in the friendliest manner; pitched camps together; laid down to sleep side by side; but during the night the Chippewa Indians arose and butchered and scalped their friendly neighbors and departed. News of the tragedy was brought to the mission and Rev. G. H. Pond accompanied by only one Dakotah Indian went thirty miles from the mission site to the place of the butchery where the two men buried the mutilated remains of their friends.




Rev. T. S. Williams must have been a superintendent; and organizer for the Mission society for as soon as we read of him being at Fort Snelling we discover him at the Kapiosa mission farther west and shortly after he is at the Lac qui Parle mission again. Rev. T. S. Riggs is the man who worked and lived the longest at the Lac qui Parle Indian Mission five miles west of Watson. It was in the summer of 1841 that Rev. Riggs and Rev. Williamson built a church of unburnt brick that stood for thirteen years. They built it of what is known as sun-baked brick and they hung in it a church bell; - the first church bell used to ring and toll in the state of Minnesota.




In a letter from the mission dated in 1841 Rev. S. R. Riggs stated that he had spent five weeks in copying the Dacotah Indian vocabulary that they had collected; that it amounted to about six thousand words and that one of Joseph Renville's boys and three of his daughters were engaged in the copying work. He also mentioned that Mrs. Riggs and her assistants had written an Indian dictionary containing about three thousand words.




Whenever assistant missionaries arrived at the mission Joseph Renville welcomed them fervently and hospitably and aided them in every way he could. He was their interpreter and helped overcome the prejudices of the Indians against their teachings. He assisted in translating and compiling several books now published in the Dacotah language. Two volumes, one a volume of extracts from the old testament, and a volume containing the gospel of St. Mark, that were published in 1839, were translated orally by Renville and written down by Rev. Williamson. A hymnal "The Dacotah Hymns," published in 1843 contained many hymns that were composed by Renville who was the first hymn composer on the Watson community soil.




Renville was married to his Indian wife at Prairie Du Chien by a Roman church priest many years before there was any clergyman in the Minnesota territory. Renville was an extraordinary brilliant man in his ability to observe and understand and express himself pointedly in the simplest sentences. He was chosen and ordained a ruling elder of the church in 1841 and even then at his advanced age his memory was so perfect and keen that he could instantly upon hearing even a long and somewhat unfamiliar part of the scriptures read in French to him translate it off hand into the Dacotah language; and the Dacotah language has a manner of expression entirely different from that of the French language. It was unanimously conceded by all who knew him that he was an interpreter that could not be surpassed.




It is probable that Renville owned the first bible in Minnesota. It was a bible in the French language that he imported from France. It was printed in Geneva in 1588 and contained a foreword by John Calvin in the Latin language. He possessed this bible long before the missionaries came to begin their work as his neighbors. There are ample proofs for the belief that he had become a devout disciple of Christ long before the missionaries arrived and that it was mainly due to his sincere desire to help his mother's people the Dacotahs that the mission was ever established.




Long before the mission was started his wife had through his instructions lost faith in the Gods of the Dacotahs and she was the first Dacotah that joined the church of Christ. She died too in that faith with the final statement to her husband: "I am remembering Jesus Christ who suffered for me and depending on him alone. Today I shall stand before God and ask him for mercy for you, and all my children, and all my kinsfolk."




Joseph Renville died on a Sunday forenoon in March 1846. After having a beloved hymn sung to him his last words to those near him were in the form of an admonition to go to church, and shortly after that his spirit departed from the body leaving on it an expression of great serenity. He was buried on the western border of Chippewa county, five miiles west of Watson, Minnesota on a hillside that fronts towards the setting sun, south-east of the beautiful Lac qui Parle Lake.


CHAPTER 3




HOW THE WATSON COMMUNITY SOIL WAS BOUGHT FROM THE ORIGINAL OWNERS




After the passing of Joseph Renville we are rapidly nearing the era of our state’s stupendous land deals with the Sioux Indians. Minnesota territory was organized in 1849 and Alexander Ramsey became its first governor. Immigrants were already coming into the state and something had to be done to prepare the way for permanent settlements by the white people and a resultant natural growth in industry and commerce.




Then we arrived at the epochal year 1851 when we find it recorded that there were at the Lac qui Parle Indian mission the following teachers: Rev. S. R. Riggs, Rev. M. N. Adams, Jonas Petijohn, Mrs. Fanny Petijohn, Mrs. Mary Ann Riggs, Mrs. Mary A. M. Adams and Miss Sarah Rankin. These teachers at the Indian mission then in what is now Chippewa county Minnesota were all people of culture and refinement, many of them members of socially prominent and influential families in the east.




And it was during this year 1851 that Rev. S. R. Riggs left his home on the mission site five miles west of Watson and went down east along the Minnesota valley to Traverse De Sioux to attend a meeting between the Sioux Indians and Luke Lea, United States Commissioner of Indian Affairs, and Govenor Alexander Ramsey of Minnesota. Traverse De Sioux was an Indian trail crossing the Minnesota river somewhere between Mankato and Fort Snelling and it was an Indian council and camping ground. At this meeting the important treaty with the Sioux Indians by which the west side of the Mississippi river including the Minnesota valley was opened to settlers was effected. The treaty was first read in English and then tnanslated into the Dacota language by Rev. S. R. Riggs on July 18th.




It was not a treaty for any honest man to feel proud over the way it turned out later. It was a binding agreement between Governor Alexander Ramsey and the Sioux Indians that was not carried out by Governor Ramsey according to his promise. According to the treaty $275,000 cash were to be paid to the chiefs of the tribes and an additional $30,000 were to be spent for improvements for the Indians as soon as they moved on to the tracts of land reserved for their occupancy, and this treaty was signed July 23, 1851. This was the treaty with the Wahpeton or Lac qui Parle Indians and also the Sisseton Indians.




And the Medawkantons and Wapakutas were by the treaty of Mendota to be paid $235,000, this also to be paid to the chiefs of the tribes on the same terms as the first mentioned treaty, and this second treaty was dated August 5th 1851. When the Indians in 1857 had waited six years for their money they started to complain about the delay. Then due to the complaints the Indian Department at Washington sent Major Kintzing Pritchette to investigate the fuss about this indebtedness to the Indians that amounted to $540,000. His report to the government at Washington was in principal parts as follows:




“The complaint which runs through all the Indian’s councils points to a non-fulfillment of treaty stipulations. -That such a belief prevails among them impairing their confidence and good faith in the government, can not be questioned.”




And Chief Mapista Wicasta said. “At the treaty of Traverse De Sioux, $275,000 were to be paid the Indians when they came upon their reservations. Every white man knows that they have now been five years upon their reservalions and they have not received their money yet.




Then the Federal government appointed Judge Young to investigate the charges against Governor Ramsey and his report is briefly as follows: “The Governor is charged with having paid over most of the money appropriated in the treaties of July 23 and August 5th, 1851 to one Hugh Tyler for payment to traders and half breeds, against the agreement with, and wishes of the Indians, in violation of his own solemn pledges.”




And the facts disclosed by Judge Young’s investigation were: Of the $275,000 to be paid $250,000 were delivered to Hugh Tyler by Governor Ramsey for distribution amongst traders and half breeds. Hugh Tyler gave two receipts to the Governor signing himself as attornney for the traders and half breeds; one receipt for $210,000 for the traders and one for $40.000 for the half breeds. The first dated at St. Paul December 8th 1852 and the second at Mendota December 11th 1852. And of the $110,000 to be paid the Med-wa-kantons Hugh Tyler received $70,000 on a power of attorney given him by traders and half breeds. Hugfh Tyler also deducted a percentage as a cash discount to himself amounting to $55,000 for handling these sums of money.




These were the sums of money that Governor Alexander Ramsey pledged the Indians in solemn council would be paid to the chiefs of the tribes in open council to be divided among Indians as soon as they moved on to their reservations, where they had been living then five years in fulfillment of their part of the treaty when these investigations were commenced.




During this period of acute abuse of contracts with the Indians and their resultant disatisfaction with the treatment accorded them, by the white people’s administration of their affairs, we learn that the old Indian Mission on the western border of Chippewa county was destroyed in the year 1854. One Indian who learned to read and write at that old mission was not, however, destroyed yet, worse luck as the state of Minnesota shortly learned! Chief Little Crow! According to the treaties at Traverse De Sioux and Mendota in 1851 the Indians had signed away all their territory except a ten mile wide strip on each side of the Minnesota river from near Fort Ridgely, located west of New Ulm and north of the Minnesota river, to Big Stone Lake. Then through the business management of Chief Little Crow this ten mile wide strip of land north of the river from Fort Ridgely to the mouth of the Yellow Medicine river was sold.




This land deal arriving on top of the former land deal trouble made Chief Little Crow, who was an ambitious man, mighty unpopular with his own people, and it caused all the Indians in that part of the Minnesota valley to move and live south of the river. It also shifted the stream of traveling Indian bands to come to Lac qui Parle village from the west side of the river instead of arriving as formerly from the east side of the river. It also caused the building under the Pre-Volstead Indian Agent Major Galbraith’s supervislon in the autumn of 1861, one substancial school house, one dwelling house, one store house and one blacksmith and carriage shop on the Lac qui Parle county side of the river. There is no doubt but that building foundation outlines still showing in the soll near Lac qui Parle village in Lac qui Parle county are some of the traces remaining of the building construction work done under the orders of Major Galbraith in the year 1861.




Amos W. Huggins was the government Indian school teacher at the Lac qui Parle Government Indians school in 1862 and he was one of the first persons killed in the massacre that year. Miss La Frambols was also one of the teachers but she escaped. This most recent Indian school built and maintained by the United States government was located in Lac qui Parle county exclusively and not in Chippewa county, while, the original head Indian village named Lac qui Parle and started hundreds of years ago, and the old Lac qui Parle Indian Mission established ninety-six years ago were all located along the western border of Chippewa County Minnesota and never in Lac qui Parle county Minnesota.




Since Chief Crow once attended school on Watson community soil and later became the leader in the horrible butchery known as the Indian Massacre of 1862 and as a result paid the supreme penalty for those crimes; it is only fair to mention in that connection; that Major Galbraith in command of the states Indian affairs was an incmnpetent; that Governor Alexander Ramsey was a confirmed blunderer;  that the Indian instigators with Chief Little Crow were insanely drunk on whiskey when the massacre began. But who brought them that whiskey?




All these years the fur trading business had been conducted by corporations who were always competing with each other for the profits to be made out of valuable furs and other wares, including whiskey. Whiskey was everlastingly smuggled in and exchanged to the trappers and Indians for valuable furs in continual defiance of all government laws and protests of decent citizens against such trade methods. That this influenced all treaties and trade with the Indians is apparent for it is recorded on the annals of history as told by Earl Selkirk, who founded the Selkirk settlement in Manitoba Canada, that in the spring of the year 1815 Morrison and McKenzie of the Northwest Fur Company told chief Kawtawbety of the Chippewa Indian tribe that they would give him and his people all the rum and other goods that they had at Fort William, Leach Lake and Sandy Lake if they would go on the war path against the Selkirk settlers. But the Indian Chief who was more of a man than any of the two white men declined their offer with an expression of deep felt disgust.


CHAPTER 4




THE ARRIVAL OF THE HOMESTEADERS




Minnesota loaned its credit to railroad construction concerns in amounts needed by them. This created a vigorous speculation in town sites but very little progress in railroad building and in the year 1857 when $2,275,000 had been sunk in this manner there was a financial crash when the state foreclosed upon railroad beds, land grants, and railroad equipments. It increased immigration, however, and in the year 1860 the states population was 172,023. Then came the call to arms and Minnesota swelled the ranks of the Union army with 22,000 enlisted men.




Then for five long years there was very little except bloodshed, debts, privations, and misery in all quarters of the United States until the close of the war in 1865. That year the Minnesota legislature granted charters on their foreclosed railroad properties to new railroad construction companies and by the year 1870 one thousand miles of railroad had been completed. During this successful era of railroad construction another rampant spasm of townsite speculation blossomed out but that died in the panic of 1873. It was, however, in a very few years right before and immediately after the year 1870 that all the territory that now constitutes the Watson community soil was settled.




The homesteaders who came earliest picked out their land nearest the rivers and creeks and timber. At the beginning of the year 1870 there was hardly any homestead land left in the near vicinity of the site of Watson. What remained for a little while was homesteaded on the preemption plan and the price on the land was set at $2.50 per acre. During the time the last government land was taken squatters had already settled on the railroad grant land, so that all the land now the abode of the Watson community was really settled in a remarkable short time.




Many settlers came here from older settlements in south-eastern Minnesota and Iowa. Some came almost without any stopovers from Norway, or Sweden, or Denmark. There were at that time earlier settlements in the vicinity of New Ulm, Redwood Falls, Litchfield and Norway Lake. Some came away from the railroad construction work then going on between the Twin Cities and Benson and most of them walked out here to their homesteads. A few walked in from other points and many drove in on common lumber wagons, covered with a hood of canvas and otherwise rigged out as emigrant wagons, loaded with the most essential foodstuffs, cooking utensils, clothes, tools, and implements, and most often on top of that a father and a mother and half a dozen children. There were no heavy duty Conestoga emigrant wagons or the original “Prairie Schooners” brought into the community.




Some emigrant wagons were equipped with brakes but too many were not. Then the drivers of heavily loaded wagons had to rig up some sort of an emergency brake when they came out on the brink of some bluff with a steep descent ahead of them. One such emergency brake broke going down the Minnesota river bluff west of New Ulm; the oxen ran away; the wagon upset; and one child was crippled for life in the accident.




There were no bridges across the rivers and creeks, only natural fording places, or crossings, and it often happened that when the emigrant wagons came to some river it was, through recent copious rains at a flood stage, with the wafer flooding the prairie grass on its shores, and with all outlines of its crossing hidden deeply under water. Then they had to camp and wait until the flood receded, and that is one reason why travelers in pioneer days had to be patient and used to consider themselves due at any destination only when they through good fortune managed to get there.




When in 1869 the emigrant train composed of four wagons belonging to Fredrick Teigen, Ole Teigen, Hans Hagenstad Sr., Hans Hagenstad Jr., and Iver Hagenstad was coming from south-eastern Minnesota to settle on Watson community soil they came to the shore of the Minnesota river only a short distance west of the Camp Release Monument site and found a place there to cross the river. Then they cut down elm trees and split them and built a raft. On that raft they ferried their wagons over the river while they made their oxen swim across, but they had no more than accomplished this risky feat sucsessfully when their already too water-logged raft sank to the bottom of the river.




Locating one’s homestead and getting it filed, that is entered in the government records, was not as easy as to read about it. One had to be sure that one settled on goverment land opened to homestead entry and not on railroad grant land. For the railroad land tract given away by congress, to the railroad construction promoters (who built the H. & D. Division of the C. M. & St. P. Rwy.) on July 4, 1866, and approved by the Minnesota legislature March 7, 1867, was exactly one half of all the land in Tunsberg, Big Bend and Kragero Townships. It was every odd numbered section, or every other section. Tunsberg was surveyed by Jewett & Howe in 1866, and Kragero was surveyed by Wright & Beardsley in 1869.




It often took a lot of walking, searching and painstaking sighting to locate the quarter section corner markers even after one or more section corners had been found. That is, probably, why one homesteader started digging a dugout on his neighbors land. His neighbor, who apparently believed in getting all the hard work done that he would have for nothing, watched him work until the dugout was nearly completed. Then he stepped in and claimed it for his own. Then the still homeless homesteader, the able wielder of spade and shovel relocated himself and started digging a second cellar. Then another settler came and told him that he was wrong again, but also helped him to get his homestead home started in the right place.




Some of the pioneers never seemed to forget the first nights and days they spent on their homesteads. Time between meals was then often very long. For fuel for cooking they had to gather dry slough grass and dry prairie stuff, and whatever they could find that would burn. They had no oil or gasoline burners, no coal or electricity at hand just then no, not even wood for a stove. The slough grass was twisted into hard ropes and bunches and when dry enough and there was enough of it kept a fire going fairly well under a kettle but too often it furnished more smoke than heat. The want of fuel was, however, soon overcome by the pioneers in the Watson community who lived close to the timber and had oxen and wagons.




The dugouts were generally dug in the side of a hill, or the side of a ridge of land, and hardly ever on perfectly flat land. They were merely plain dirt cellars with a pole, brush, hay, and sod roof. A ridge pole was placed at the proper height over the excavation according to the direction the ridge was intended to point. Wooden poles, mostly ash and elm, were then notched deeply to fit and bite over the ridge pole, and these were laid as closely together as possible. Fine brush, coarse slough grass and fine prairie hay was spread to form a covering over the entire roof, and on top of that a coat of sod cut with a spade or breaking plow was laid.




Two dugouts exactly of the same design could not be found. They were all built according to the environments, inventive ability, and means of their owners. Since too much hay hanging down from the ridge pole inside a dugout was undesirable and also a fire menace the owner decided to trim it off with a knife one day. He lit his pipe carefully and climbed on his crude chair and started slashing away at the hay. All of a sudden his pipe ignited the hay and his dugout ceiling blazed into a sheet of flames. He had no choice, but got out on the hillside as fast as he could where he sat down to watch it burn. It did not take him long to build another roof over his dugout, but he lost something in the fire that he could not replace, and he never smoked any more while he lived.




The dugouts were warm habitations where the roofs were airtight and waterproof. They were sort of difficult to locate even on moonlit nights when visiting after the days work. They kind of had to be stumbled over in order to be found. All of a sudden a tiny beam of candle or lamp light would twinkle out of the ground and the visitor would know that he had arrived at his destination. There was hardly ever anything but dirt floors, or rather clay floors, in the dugouts, and many of the pioneer log cabins too had no other flooring. When company was expected clean prairie hay or straw was spread over the floor for a carpet. But they had many a good time on those dugout clay floors for it is never the luxury and elegance of the premises that makes the homes but the disposition of hearts and minds of owners and tenants.




While log cabins are still being built and can be seen in a timber country the dugouts are practically a thing of the past and almost all traces of them were obliterated long ago. Dugout stables too were warmer than any ordinary barn and all dugout habitations were safer during violent storms than any buildings erected now. Thousands of people killed by tornadoes during the last ten years would have been alive today had they resided in dugouts.




THE PIONEER LOG HOUSE




In memory dwells still that log house so lonely

That father had built on the old homestead farm.

Not lovely, nor homely, it stood there and only

To some of its friends did it show any charm.

It stood, on the vast level prairie surrounded

By little but space and the distant sky line,

And by a sod stable near by that was bounded

By hay stacks so horses and cattle could dine.




It stood on a cellar that had only clay walls,

With never a window or door to bring light;

No porch had that house, nor no upstairs, or swell halls;

Still good people lived there, and lived there all right.

While windstorms and cold waves at times made it dreary

To look at the desolate prairie so wide,

All children born to it never got weary

Of that log house home and its warm fireside.




Of all times we lived through in that habitation

A mid-summer storm was the worst time we met.

It came at our home like the doom of creation;

It came in a night that we can not forget.

It was not preceded by lightning or thunder;

At least we heard nothing asleep there in bed;

It raged as if though it would tear all asunder;

So every thing living for safety fled.

 

Then down in the cellar, face down on that clay floor,

We huddled and heard how the elements raged.

We heard how the house creaked

and moaned through the uproar

Of battle that heavens artillery waged.

Then too came a cloud burst and water came flowing

Down into that cellar at too great a rate;

So we while expecting to hear the house going,

Feared too that a drowning would be our sad fate.




Next morning that log house looked bigger than any

Huge stone or steel structure now known on this earth;

And that humble clay cellar safer than any

Of these modern basements deemed of such a worth - 

So, when I look back to our times on the homesite,

That log house stands forth like a castle to me.

It sheltered us safely through many a storm night,

And harbored the best times we ever shall see.


CHAPTER 5




OUR ANCESTRAL PIONEERS




The Watson community is well known to us all, but could we have rode above it in an airplane in 1871, sixty years ago, we would have seen no Watson because it was not built yet. We would not have seen a single tree or shrub except along the shores of the Chippewa and the Minnesota rivers and possibly a very few trees and shrubs along the shores of Lac qui Parle Lake and the creeks. The great stretches of the gently undulating prairie in between these water courses were otherwise absolutely bare.




We would not have seen any Montevideo either. It had not arrived yet. We would not have seen any railroad for they had not started to build it yet, nor had they at that time decided to build it where it is now. Due west of where Montevideo is now located on the shore of Chippewa river, and about where Smith’s Addition to Montevideo is now, stood a little inland town. In 1870 it had about six houses and it was named Chippewa City.




Let us then for the sake of brevity and description go up in an imaginary airplane from Chippewa City in the month of August 1871 and fly above the Chippewa river in a northwesterly direction to see who has settled up that way. Leaving Chippewa City behind us we are soon high above the Chippewa river bluffs southeast of the Gippe farm. Below us is the river, a shiny and very crooked little ribbon threaded from one side to the opposite and back again throughout the length of a much wider and straighter and apparently endless green belt of timber. Down on the brow of the grass green river bluff west of the river are some dark uneven spots. They are the dugouts or log hfouses of William Crane, who settled in 1869 and George Crane, who settled in 1868. Farther north is Knute Knutson, who settled in 1868, and northeast of him on the bottom land east of the river is Jean F. Silvernail, who settled in 1865.




Right ahead below the airplane is the abode of Heinrich Gippe, who settled in 1865, while to the west on a naked flat plain that stretches between the Chippewa river bottom land and the Minnesota river blossom land there are some more habitations. They are, nearest the Chippewa river, the homes of Andrew Swenson and John Swenson, who settled in 1869, and John Ehrenberg, who settled in 1869, and west of them are Anders M. Anderson, who settled in 1869, Lars H. Bay, who settled in 1869, Jacob Syftestad, who settled in 1869, and Tollef Wik, who settled in 1869.




The sun is shining brightly and far down below us we see habitation signs denoting more homesteaders. There is Clark N. Crandall, who settled in 1867, and farther ahead between the bluff and the river, west of the river is the farmstead of Ole Haugland who settled in 1867. About one mile straight west from the river is the homestead of Ole T. Olson, who settled in 1869, and near by that the dugout of Lars O. Stensrud who settled in 1871 on railroad grant land wherefore he a little later became John B. Oyens nearest neighbor two miles farther north.




One half mile north of Ole T. Olson is the home of John Dvergsten. who settled in 1869, and one half mile west of Dvergsten the home of Iver Halverson Kanten, who settled in 1869. North of Kanten are more settlers, there are homes of Mrs. Dorthea Hilden who settled in 1869, Hans Hilden, who settled in 1869, Gilbert Hilden, who settled in 1869, and nearer the river the homestead of Hans Iverson Kanten, who settled in 1869.




Our airplane pilot hands us a piece of note paper containing the information that the plane will swing in a complete circle over a most interesting settlement, and to hold tight for the plane is going to climb to a higher altitude. The plane climbs and swings to the east, and we sight right below us against the Chippewa river timber belt the abode of Ole Waldum, who settled in 1870, and Peder Johnson Velo, who settled in 1868. The Chippewa river winding on through its timber belt disappears slowly behind us and we perceive right under us a settlement, - about the spot which half a century later became known as the Watson Community Club picnic ground, - containing the following settlers: 




Captain Samuel J. Sargent, Civil War Veteran, who settled in 1865. Henry Tunnison, who settled in 1866, Edward Tunnison, who settled in 1866, Mahlon Gregg, who settled in 1868, E. J. Harkness, who settled in 1868, Johnatan Williams who settled in 1868. Some children are playing around the log house on the E. J. Harkness place where school is presumably in session. It is one of the first two schools in Tunsberg township. It was started in 1870.




Right by this settlement, in the bend of the Chippewa river, where it runs west after flowing straight south for many miles, is the river crossing on the historic Government Trail from Fort Rigely, in the east, to Fort Wadsworth, in the west, and to Fort Abercombie, in the northwest, and we scrutinize intently this Old Government Trail. It comes from the southeast, over the flat land east of the river bluff east of Chippewa City, like an endless rope laid out over the Chippewa river crossing in a northwesterly direction farther than a human eye can follow it. Thus it extends over the naked prairie weaving around sloughs and ridges, disappearing in ravines and depressions and emerging again, having here and there in its surface, like files crawlilng along a string, some small emigrant wagon outfits, and some bigger freighting outfits composed of massive, high wheeled brake equipped covered wagons, hauled by one or tandem yokes of oxen lumbering awkwardly along tugging at their creaking, swaying, loads.




In swinging in a wide circle south we see to the southwest, not far from the Government Trail, the homes of: Edward Nelson who settled in 1869, Andreas Hendrickson, who settled in 1871; and Ole Jacobson, who settled in 1869. On the east edge of the river timber to the south are signs of the habitations of: Henry A. Runion, who settled in 1866, A. G. Ward, who settled in 1866, C. D. Ward, who settled in 1866, when these three filed on timber claims. Looking again to the east we see the homes of Sivert Johnson, who settled in 1869; and right south of him Ole Salomonson Axness, who settled in 1867; and southeast of him J. M. Irwin, who settled in 1870.




Our plane having completed the circle we are heading north above the Chippewa river. To the east less than two miles from the river we glance at the abodes of: Lars Saxberg, who settled in 1869; and nearer the river Hans M. Olson, settled in 1868, and Fredrick Olson who settled in 1868. Coming right beneath the plane at this moment is the home of Isak Amundson who settled in 1867, and a little ahead the home of Jacob Engleson who settled in 1868.




Looking farther east we behold the farmstead of Hans Martin Lund, who settled in 1868 and Ole Erickson who settled in 1868; Erick O. Erickson who settled in 1968; Mrs. Randi Marken who settled in 1869; William Thompson who settled in 1868; Nels Svenungson who settled in 1868; Nels Fredrickson who settled in 1869; Tollef Jacobson Libakken who settled in 1869.




But following us on the left side the west side of the plane all the way, we see below us another apparently endless string laid out in an irregular, winding, turning, manner going north along the side of the river valley. We saw it passing Ole Haugland’s sod barn a while ago, and now a tiny yoke of oxen, standing, that is, they seem to be standing, in front of a tiny wagon, and beside it a tiny speck that must be the ox teamster; - It is undoubtedly some settler on his way to Benson with a few sacks of grain or one returning to his dugout with a log from the timber.




Then we look down ahead to the east side of the river and we see a school house, Yes, it is used for a school house, but it is also the log house home of Brigt Johnson who settled in 1868, (on the homestead that later became the Rev. O. E. Solseth farm.) Right below us by the west side of the river lives Moses A. Page who settled in 1869, and Albert Page who settled in 1869, while one half mile west of the river we see the home of Theodore Johnson who settled in 1871.




Farther west about one mile from the river, in the hillside west of the creek valley, is the home of John B. Oyen who settled in 1869, and one half mile north-east of Oyen on the creek valley is the home of Iver Retrum who settled in 1869. Along this creek valley to the north-west we of: Anders Iverson who settled in 1869; Nels Iverson who settled in 1869; Iver Nilson Krogstad who settled in 1869; Ole Slotte who settled in 1869; and Arnt E. Lyngen who settled in 1871.




While the airplane is over the home of Paul Golie who settled in 1869, we also see the home of Hans Halverson who settled in 1867, in the Dry Weather Creek ravine, and Ole Dalen who settled in 1868. Then our plane passes over the dugout of Sivert Klefstad who settled in 1869, and we are right over the home of the Risor Post Office in the home of Ole Torgerson who settled in 1867; and right east of the post office is the home of Civil War Veteran, Sunclov Alleckson who settled in 1868, and a little to the north the home of Halvor Alleckson who settled in 1871.




Had we had time to look during our flight up the river we might have seen through the crystal clear water in the gravel lined river channel; schools of Pike; Pickrel; Bass; Buffalo Fish; Red Horse; Suckers; Cat Fish; Bullheads, and an occasional Sturgeon. We have already seen an antelope and some huge flocks of ducks and prairie chickens; and against the green carpet formed by the tree tops we have seen the happiest flocks of: Canaries, Robins, Wrens, Black birds and many other song birds, and we saw a lone deer, horrified by the drone of the motor, flee into the forest.




Since we started our flight we passed by, but did not enumerate the following, Harvey Payne who settled in 1869; Aaron Clark who settled in 1869; J. Emmerting who settled in 1866, and John Bloomer who settled in 1868. But straight west we see the home of Knut Olson who settled in 1871; and northeast of Knut the home of Hans Anderson Vikhammer who settled in 1868; and we go right above the domicile of Knut Angrimson who settled in 1867; and past the river bluff top where Nels Klefstad lives who settled in 1869. Then ahead of the plane right below us is the home of Amund K. Hagen who settled in 1868.




We think we are seeing James Jameson who settled in 1870 out here, but we are not pop sure, when our independent pilot starts banking the plane something scandalous and circling around and around looking for Umadilla post office and meanwhile we pass above the following: Gunder P. Blom who settled in 1869; Ole E. Emerson who settled in 1869; Endre Einerson who settled in 1870; Hans P. Blom who settled in 1869; Paul Hanson Blom who settled in 1869; Anders G. Nes who settled in 1869; G. G. Nes who settled in 1869; Ole H. Blom who settled in 1869; Ole Anfinson who settled in 1870; Gabriel Skogrand who settled in 1870; Ove Overson who settled in 1867; Nels K. Hagen who settled in 1869; Knut Hagen who settled in 1869; Joel Woods who settled in 1869; Doctor Marvin Hull who settled in 1871; Nels Gunderson who settled in 1870; Isak Olson who settled in 1869; George F. Woods who settled in 1869; Ole Hagen who settled in 1869; Ove O. Quale who settled in 1870; Henry W. Woods who settled in 1869; Gabriel Gabrielson who settled in 1869; Knut Johnson who settled in 1870; Elling Jorgenson who settled in 1871; and John Trytten who settled in 1871. And we have also lost, somewhere, O. O. Lien who settled in 1869.




We are right over Cottonwood Creek, and right west of a crossing over that creek, we discover one more very crooked string laid out over the prairie in a southwesterly direction until out of sight in the horizon. It is the Lac qui Parle county settlers road to Benson. The plane turns to the southwest. Live specs are apparently in motion, some going northeast, some southwest, some going to Benson and some home again; while to the south, and west of the river we perceive the habitations of more settlers: namely; Helmer Olsen who settled in 1869, and Julius Olsen who settled in 1869. Then while approching the home of Nels Hovrud who settled ln 1871 we observe to the south in the distance a settlement consisting of Sivert Roaldson who settled in 1870; Sivert Nordtomme who settled in 1870; Elias Nortomme who settled ln 1870; Anders Eliason who settled in 1869; Eivind Lund who settled in 1870; Christian Lund who settled in 1870; and Anders (Forman) Bergsoe who settled in 1870; - and nearer by Erick Slotte who settled in 1869.




During our ride we have seen small enclosures or yards next to dugout stables and sod stables, and here and there some dark rectangular, square, and plank shaped patches, and also some fine black lines extending from the habitations for some short distances. Some of the yards or enclosures are built of wooden rails and some out of sod. The fine black lines are the sod fences that are deep and narrow ditches with rows of dirt along one side of the ditches moulded from the dirt excavated from the ditches into high sharp ridges. The rectangular square and plank shaped patches are the evidences left by the breaking plows being used. All over the prairie we have passed above we have witnessed cattle roaming unrestrained according to their own desires, while nearer to the homsteaders abodes we have often seen from two to four bovines grazing or reposing after the manner of working cattle or yoke oxen, - but we have not seen, so far, more than two horses.




Before passing above Nels Hovrud we also passed above Hans M. Norby who settled in 1869; while to the west appears in plain view the homes of Eivind Sundgaard who settled in 1870; Christian Sundgaard who settled in 1870; Erick Morstad who settled in 1871; Anders H. Skreberg who settled in 1871; Arne Pederson who settled in 1870; Nels J. Bystrom who settled in 1870; and Anders Evenskaas who settled in 1871. - Then a stub of a silvery ribbon glistens on the western horizon ahead of the plane. It is the southern end of Lac qui Parle Lake appearing and disappearing with the swayings and undulations of the plane. Then we pass over the home of Jens Hanson who settled in 1870, and we are above the bottom land of the detour channel of the prehistoric river Warren.




Immediately ahead of the plane on the northeast bluff brow of the southwest shore of the ancient river bed, right on the Lac qui Parle-Benson trail, is the home of Nels Aamot who settled in 1870, and its is also the home of the Wren post office. To the south along the bluff brow are the homes of Anders Hanson who settled in 1869; and Hans Jacobson Baaten who settled in 1871; Ole A. Johnson who settled in 1870; Erick H. Johnson who settled in 1870; and there should be somewhere in range of the plane the homes of Knut Hanson who settled in 1869, and Hermund Peterson who settled in 1869. Spread out to the south over an otherwise totally naked plain are the homestead domiciles of Hans Hagenstad, Sr., who settled in 1869; Hans Hagenstad, Jr., who settled in 1869; Iver Hagenstad who settled in 1869; Knut Stenerson who settled in 1869; Ole Teigen who settled in 1869; Fredrick Teigen who settled in 1869; and Anne Klefstad who settled in 1871.




Our plane is nearing the Minnesota river shore above what is one of the most historic places in the northern Mississippi valley. Here extending north and south along the eastern shore of the Minnesota river near its junction with Lac qui Parle Lake are: The Old Lac qui Parle Indian Mission site, Joseph Renville’s cattle ranch site, and the site of the original head Indian village founded hundreds of years ago and known as Lac qui Parle Indian Visage in history.




Here on these historical sites are now the following settlers: Lorenzo Lawrence who settled in 1868; John Lawrence who settled in 1868; and the oldest settler in the homestead days, John B. Bushman who settled first on his land here in 1836 and returned after a long absence and settled on the same land again in 1867. Here is also on the Lac qui Parle Head Village site the home of Kittel Veliekson who settled in 1863, and a little farther north the home of James Olson who settled ln 1870.




Leaving these historic sites behind us our plane roars reverberatingly above and over the channel of the also historic Minnesota river, the river that is also in history known as the St. Pierre river. Curling up through the interstices in the tree tops comes spirals of smoke from dozens of Indian lodges along the river. Here we observe some vestiges of the government Indian school built under supervision of Indian Agent Major Galbraith in 1861, and our thoughts begin to dwell on the fact that Amos Huggins was unaware of any danger shot here while unhitching his team near some Indians in the beginning of the masacre of 1862. And who can tell; the massacre might have been avoided and hundreds of innocent settlers lives spared had the venerable Joseph Renville, buried east of the river, lived thirty years longer. He had a remarkable influence over the Indians and he could also understand the white people at the same time.




But while dwelling on this, we are leaving behind us these histotic places and the whole interesting Lac qui Parle settlement consisting of: - nearest to the river, Hans J. Lokken Who settled in 1867; and up towards the lake shore Thom Anderson Nykaas who settled in 1870 on a timber claim. And by this time our plane has swung around in a wide half circle until it is heading towards Chippewa City and we have passed above, J. H. Brown who settled in 1871; Peter F. Jacobson who settled in 1869; J. F. Jacobson who settled in 1869; Hugh J. Chalmers who settled in 1869; David P. Lister who settled in 1868; John Nash who settled in 1868; John F. Averill who settled in 1871; William P. Mills who settled ln 1868; Lyman Hodges who settled in 1871; Abner Tibbets who settled in 1871; Henry Cross who settled in 1871; Browning Nichols who settled ln 1871; Hans Johnson who settled in 1870; Peter Simpson who settled ln 1869; Lars Tinderholt who settled ln 1870; G. E. Home who settled ln 1869; John Larson who settled in 1869; Aad Anderson who settled in 1970; John Anderson who settled in 1870; C. A. Anderson who settled in 1870; H. J . Borgendale who settled in 1870; Martinius Moen who settled in 1871; Henrik Egdahl who settled in 1869; and Frank Stay who settled ln 1868. And we return to Chippewa City where after making a trip above the actual pioneers in this original Watson Community territory, the alrplane lands and the trip is ended.


CHAPTER 6




ORGANIZATION OF CHIPPEWA COUNTY AND TUNSBERG TOWNSHIP




That the county seat of Chippewa county came close to being located at the Chippewa river Old Government Trail crossing one mile north-east of Watson was the positive declaration of a late Tunsberg township pioneer who settled in 1869 and always took a vital interest and active part in county affairs. Samuel J. Sargent and his Tunsberg adherents pulled ardently for this location. It was while the rivalry for the county seat was going on between Chippewa City and Montevideo in 1869 and 1870.




Ole Torgerson of Tunsberg township had been appointed county commissioner previous to January 9th, 1869 when the first meeting of the county commissioners of Chippewa county was held. S. J. Sargent of Tunberg township had also in 1869 been appointed Chippewa countys first treasurer, so the Watson community had at the birth of the county inside of its territory two of the leading county officials and many felt that it was a good location for the county seat too; and they claimed that nowhere in nature could one find a more desirable and lovelier locacation for the county seat than at the Old Government Trail crossing that is one mile north-east of Watson.




Chippewa City and Montevideo were not so noticeable either in 1869 and 1870. Chippewa City had about six houses and Montevideo had two big log houses. But although Montevideo had only two houses, it had four men with political influence and pull, and they were: H. Ward Stone, store-keeper; Henry Anderson, store clerk; Geo. W. Frink, hotel-keeper; and Joseph D. Baker, an appointed clerk of district court, who, where he got his appointment, possibly got also the help of Governor Ramsey and Representative Swift of Beaver Falls, Renville county to get Montevideo by an act of February 25th, 1870, the temporary county seat which they shortly managed no make a permanent one.




On September 6th, 1869 the county was divided into four election precincts: the first election was held and the Watson community territory was represented in the first elected force of county officials by its following pioneers: Samuel J. Sargent, Tunsberg Co. Auditor; Ole Torgerson, Tunsberg Co. Commissioner; Ove Overson, Big Bend Sheriff.




It was only natural that S. J. Sargent was looked up to as a pioneer community leader for he was what in those days meant a well educated man and he had been a leader of men, he had been a captain in the Union army. He was also to earliest settler north of Silvernail and Gippe having settled the same year they did, in 1865. When anything went awry, that required extra aid to readjust Sargent was the first man his neighbors called on for assistance. One of his nearest neighbors was E. J. Harkness and in his log house one of the first schools in Chippewa county was started in 1870. S. J. Sargent helped organize that and acted as emergency teacher.




When a freighter's wagon tipped over in the old Government Trail crossing when the Chippewa river was swollen and one of the freighters drowned S. J. Sargent went across the river to Ole Waldum's home and borrowed a big rectangular mirror with which he in some mysterious manner located the body at the bottom of the river. It was brought to the surface and hurried on the south shore of the Chippewa river by the Old Government Trail crossing, right east of A. Person's farm buildings and barely one quarter of a mine north-east of the Watson Community Club's picnic ground. It is also said that three more members of the pioneer yankee settlement in the immediate vicinity of the crossing were buried in the same primitive cemetery and that one of them was Mrs. S. J. Sargent.




NOTICE OF THE FIRST TOWN METTING




The legal voters of the town of Tunsberg in the county of Chippewa and state of Minnesota, are hereby notified that the first town meeting for said town, will be held at the house of Sander Alleckson, in said town on Monday the twenty first day of March A. D. 1870, for the purpose of electing the following town officers:




Three supervisors, one of whom shall be designated on the ballot as chairman - One town clerk - One Treasurer - One Assessor - Two Justices Of The Peacem - Two Constables - And one Overseer to Highways for each road district in said town. Dated March 9th A. D. 1870.




Signed: R. Kingman, Ole Torgeson; County Commissioners.

Attest: S. J. Sargent, County Auditor, Clerk of Board.




This verbatim copy of the first posted township notice, its organization notice, is a true copy borrowed from the first Tunsberg township record where in S. J. Sargent's excellent, neat, clean, hand writing it can be read as readily today as on the day it was written, now sixty years ago. This first township meeting was held in the home of Sundov Alleckson. also a Civil War Veteran who, a gunner in the Artillery, marched in 1864 with the famous history maker W. S. Sherman "from Atlanta to the Sea." This first township meeting was held for a bigger township than Tunsberg is today. Tunsberg township was then Township 118, Range 41 and Township 119, Range 41. That is: it was Tunsberg township and Big Bend township welded into one big township named Tunsberg township, and remained that way about five years when it was divided into the two present townships.




At this first meeting the following township officers were elected: Supervisors, Ole Torgerson, Chairman, Gunder P. Blom, Hans Halvorson. Town Clerk, S. J. Sargent, Treasurer, Ole Erickson; Assessor, Nels Iverson, Justices of The Peace, S. J. Sargent and Ole Torgeson, Constable Paul H. Blom, Overseers of Highways, Isak Amundsen and Knut Angrimson, Clerk of Election, O. O. Lien, Judges of Election, Hans Halverson and Ole Erickson. - And our community's first official machinery was then started to function, now over sixty years ago.




In the year 1871 the township officers elected were Supervisors, Gilmer P. Blom, Gunder P. Blom, James Irvin; Town Clerk, S. J. Sargent, Treasurer Erick O. Erickson; Assessor, Lars H. Bay; Constable, Sundov Alleckson. The road districts were then established as follows: Road district number one contained all the roads in Township 118, Range 41 lying west of the Chippewa river, Road district number 2 contained all the roads in Township 118, Range 41 lying east of the river, road district number three contained all roads in Township 119, Range 41, what is now Big Bend township.  The road overseers elected in 1871 were: Anders Eliason, No. 1., Jacob Engleson, No. 2., Gunder P. Blom, No. 3. A petition for a road commencing at the south-east corner of section 22, going north along the section line to the north-west corner of section 14, in township 118, Range 41, is possibly the earliest road petition on record in Chippewa county. This road begins north of the river north of the Gippe farm and goes north past the Tom Amundsen farm up to the section corner by the Engleson farm.




In the year 1872 S. J. Sargent was elected Town Clerk; Erick O. Erickson, Treasurer; Lars H. Bay, Assessor. The supervisors elected were: Gilmer H. Blom, William Thompson, Ove Overson. The Highway Overseers elected were: Iver Halverson Kanten, No. 1, John A. Bloomer, No. 2, Amund Knutson Hagen, No. 3. The running of cattle was an important problem before these pioneer town meetings. That is the roaming of cattle at large or according to their desires. There were many bitter quarrels about this and many were the pioneers who were drafted to serve as pound masters or impounding officials, but few were those who chose to serve.




Then came the year 1873, the year of the terrible blizzard, and S. J. Sargent was still reelected town clerk; The Supervisors elected were: Ole T. Olson, William Thompson, Ole O. Lien. Lars H. Bay was again elected Assessor. The Highway Overseers were; Nels Iverson, No. 1; Hans Halvorsen No. 2; James Jameson, No. 3. The board made out road tax lists for all road districts and a poll tax list for road Dist. nuinber 2. It was voted that guide posts be erected. One at the junction of The Old Government Trail and the Benson road. One at the farm of John A. Bloomer, and one at the Chippewa river crossing. Thirty dollars were appropriated to build a bridge over Dry Weather creek near the farm of Hans Halvorsen. This was the first bridge built by the township, and another was built almost as early, the same year, over the creek through section ten on the west side of the river. During the year a bridge was also built over Cottonwood creek, on the road to Benson, under supervision of Ole T. Olson.




On the 18th day of March 1874 Big Bend township was split away from Tunsberg township by an ax in the shape of a legal notification by J. M. Severance, County Auditor. At the annual town meeting S. J. Sargent was elected Town Clerk; and Erick O. Ericsson, Treasurer, and Lars H. Bay Assessor. S. J. Sargent was elected Justice Of The Peace and Ole T. Olson, Constable. The Supervisors elected were: Ole T. Olson, William Thompson, Moses A. Page. The Highway Overseers elected were: Nels Svenungsen, No. 2, Svend Pederson, No. 1, Knut Angrimson, No. 3. Due apparently to some confusion caused by the division of the township new names appear on the record. John Ehrenberg was voted on for Supervisor. Nels Iverson was later in the year by town warrant appointed supervisor, and John B. Oyen was during the year by a town warrant appointed road overseer in road district number four, where he did not live, when the overseer there did not qualify. The following places were designated as places to post legal notices. Reesor Post Office; Hagen Post Office, The Wren Post Office. In January the township decided on a date for a special meeting to vote upon the regulating and the running at large of horses and cattle. The motion to regulate was voted down. A motion to tax dogs met the same fate. During the year the board also appointed Theodore Johnson Constable in place of Albert A. Page who had moved out of the township.




In the year 1875 the election resulted in the following township officials: S. J. Sargent, Town Clerk and Justice Of The Peace; Erick O. Erickson, Treasurer and Justice of The Peace; Supervisors: Erick O. Erickson, Jacob Engleson and Gustav Eliason. Constables, Theodore Johnson and Amund Amundson, Assessor, Lars H. Bay. Highway Overseers: Jacob Engleson, No. 1; Lars Saxberg, No. 2; John B. Oyen, No. 3; Fredrick Teigen, No. 4. The road districts had been renumbered after the township division. Before the annual meeting held March 14th 1876, S. J. Sargent had moved away from the township. 


CHAPTER 7 




PIONEER AGRICULTURE




The homesteaders had to do much of the work on their farms in the mose primitive ways. Too many of them had no money whatsoever to buy farm machinery and farm implements with even those who had a little money could not get to town whenever they needed to like farmers can now. When the nearest towns were Litchfield and New Ulm and there was nothing but oxen to drive with, it was not always so convenient to go shopping. Hence they made a lot of crude but serviceable farm implements at home. Quite a lot of grain was harvested with scythes to begin with, and most of the sowing was for many years done by broadcasting the seed grain in the field by hand. 




In order to smash, break, or smoothen the coarse sod, in the newly broken up fields, in preparation for seeding many at first used home made split log drags and others used harrows made out of poles and brush. The first breaking plows used were clumsy affairs too, compared to what came in market later, but they gradually worked up more and more land with these primitive implements. Of course when the longing for some real farm implement grew great enough they were not afraid to take a trip to town even in those days, and that is how O. E. Slotte, a bachelor uncle of A. E. Lyngen in the summer of 1869 walked to New Ulm and bought himself a pitchfork and walked right back home to his dugout again, and this fork he displayed with at great deal ot pride pretty near as long as he lived. On another occasion a, little later, the same summer, he ran completely out of chewing tobacco, the bachelor's sole comfort, and then he also set out afoot, but this time he aimed for Litchfield, His aim was not correct, however, for he reached a little store, in what is now New London, without seeing anything of Litchfield. And it is a good thing he found that store or he might have gone to Boston. After buying a couple pounds of chewing tobacco he walked cheerfully home again a happy bachelor.




Ole Hauglands dropper was possibly the earliest make of harvesting machine used by anyone in the Watson community territory. On a reasonable sized field it required at least four men to "tie stations." That means the machine cut like a mower and some wooden slats studded with nails gathered the straws into bundles; the discharging device discharged these loose bundles just as promptly as any modern grain binder does, but with this difference that the dropper dropped its bundles right into its own path, so four men had to be tying the bundles and removing them from the dropper's next path on one side of the field while the dropper was cutting on the other side of the field.




Ole Waldum bought a self raker harvester from George Crane who had started in as machinery agent - the first machinery agent in the community. There were several makes of self-rakers on the market, but some of them were no more efficient than the dropper just mentioned because they too did not discharge the loose bundles far enough to one side. Both the dropper and self raker harvesters were take down, dual purpose. machines. They cut the same width of swaths as the earliest mowers, somewhere around four feet, and they were used as mowers when the self raking and dropper attachments were taken off. - Paul Golie, John B. Oyen and Iver Restum used a self-raker that they owned jointly.




Then George Crane sold John B. Oyen a Mars Harvester. It was the earliest Mars harvester ln the Watson community territory. But it proved such a great improvement on the harvesters used before that in a very short while pretty near every settler had his own indvidual Mars harvester. The Mars harvester was almost exactly like an ordinary grain binder without the bundle shaping and binding attachments. The loose grain bundles slid out on a table. Two men standing on a platform lower than this table tied the bundles with great speed and expertly with bands they fashioned out of handfuls of grain straw.




Each settlers had about this time from 40 to 50 acres in field and each one pretty near had to buy his own harvester whether he liked it or not. Because no human being, no matter how expert, could fashion a bundle tie out of grain straw in the middle of a hot harvest day when the grain straw was so dry that it broke and powdered up in his hands. Hence they all had to do most of their grain cutting and bundle tying either early in the morning when the dew was on the straw, or towards sunset and into the night when the straw again got damp from dew. And that is undoubtedly where those venerable pioneers got into the habit of getting up so confounded early in the morning and staying in the fields so late at night that it was almost impossible for a willing worker to keep up with their long hours.




The droppers and self-rakers, equipped only with metal and wood conveyors for the grain straw, always threshed out too much of the grain in a field that was dead ripe. The Mars harvester did not do so. It was one of the greatest steps ever taken ln the improvement of harvesting machinery even though it did not include the modern bundle tying device.




The Mars harvesters too were mostly hauled by oxen, but most settlers traded off their oxen for serviceable teams of horses as fast as any opportunity presented itself. The breaking or training of steers, to driving so that they would work with wooden bows and the beam known as an ox-yoke around their neck was not much easier than training a team of bronchoes, remarked an old pioneer, but he added that it made a lot of difference whether the ox teamster or the oxen were the most stubborn and persistent. But the consensus of opinion of the pioneers who had been ox teamsters seemed to be that the oxen were as a rule contrary brutes, more stubbornly self-assertive than the horses are.




They did an enormous amount of heavy hauling with oxen in pioneer days. The Conestoga Emigrant Wagons, or real "Prairie Schooners" on which the wagon box was shaped somewhat like a flat bottomed boat, carried some thousands of loads of valuable freight and human lives when hauled by no other tractor power but yokes of oxen clear across the North American continent from coast to coast. Millions of acres of the best North American agricultural soil were first turned over by the breaking plows pulled by the sturdy yokes of oxen alone. And billions of tons of grub-roots and billions of tons of rock have been hauled off from timber land and other lands so as to make them fit for agriculture with no other power than that supplied by the contrary brutes known as yoke oxen.




But, for joy-riding behind oxen well, we can remember a ride we lads had with Hans Nelson our neighbor. Nelson owned a yoke of oxen which was probably the last yoke of working cattle used in Chipnewa county. Nelson was going to Kitchell's flour mill then doing business on what is now the Edward Solseth farm. We lads boarded his slowly moving lumber wagon somewhere west of the Oyen farm home. Nelson was sitting on a spring seat on the wagon box and all he had to steer the oxen with was a lariat sized rope appended to the horns of one of the brutes, but he held a wicked looking whip in one hand. We had climbed on top of some wheat sacks in the wagon box and were watching the oxen loaf along and were enjoying a long ride while the conveyance went first south to circumvent a pasture fence, and then turned east towards the river. We were approaching a descent from a hill while thinking about how turtle slow those cattle were, for we had never rode behind anything slower than horses, when something happend.




BrrooUrf! voiciferated one of the bovines and with that we must have shifted into high. There were some awful dislocating jerks so that we tumbled off from the wheat sacks into the bottom of the wagon box, while we saw Nelson fall out of his spring seat into the bottom of his wagon box much after the manner of a duck going under water. There was a terrible commotion in bouncing, jolting, rattling and uproar going on in and about that poor old lumber wagon, while we saw against the horizon ox-tails wafting high while their owners were streaking it down that hill at a furious gallop. But, all of a sudden those brutes stopped just as abruptly as they had started and when we were able to sit up and look they had lowered their dumb heads and were grazing very peacefully and innocent like. But we did not stop to visit any more with them. We jumped out of that wagon and went home as fast as we could, even forgetting to say, Thanks for the ride.


CHAPTER 8




PIONEER THRESHING RIGS




A man named Woods did probably run the first rig known to have threshed grain in the Watson community territory. And simultanteously with Woods one Aaron Clark went around with a horse power rig drawn by some hungry looking horses doing the first threshing jobs for the pioneers. That is right, Clark also carried a shot gun on his rig, and when threshing was not so good in those days, which often happened, hunting was always excellent and then Clark let his threshing outfit wait while he walked out in some nearby slough and shot himself a few ducks.




Then John F. Silvernail owned a rig in partnership with William Crane, but they were hustlers. They pulled into some stacks on a farm north of Watson one evening, but, they would not walt until morning, they had to start threshing that evening. They set the rig in a jiffy and started the five teams to trotting around the horse power and they had threshed out exactly one full two bushel sack of grain; when, bang! and something had busted in their separator. Then they unhitched and drove to Chippewa City where the nearest blacksmith was located. They returned sometime during the night and worked until morning repairing the separator, but they threshed the next day.




The following year Silvernail and Crane had sold this rig and Silvernail and Theodore Johnson bought a new rig in partnership that they had ordered shipped to Benson. When they went to Benson to get this new rig they got Tom Amundsen to go along with his team so they were three men and three teams. Theodore Johnson's team did not amount to much but he would never admit that he had any weak horses. Tom Amundsen hitched his team on the Separator and started out. John F. Silvernail hitched his team on the power and pursued Tom; and Theodore Johnson came tugging along after them with the tool wagon. They had gone way south from Benson when they to their surprise upon looking back discovered that Johnson was nowhere in sight. They stopped and waited, and waited, until he finally caught up.




"What's the matter with your team, can't they keep up?" inquired Tom Amundsen.




"It's not the team, it's the heavy load. I am hauling the heaviest load in the outfit." replied Johnson.




Then they let Johnson hitch his team on the horse power and they started again. But it was not long before Johnson's team was all in again and they had to stop. Then there was some more conversation during which Tom managed to half convince Johnson that being that the Separator was nothing much but an empty wooden box it might not be so heavy as it was high; and he finally got Johnson to hitch his poor team on the Separator. Then, of course, as was expected Johnson could not even get his team to move. That settled the arguments about the merits of the different teams and they finally got home with the threshing rig.




After Silvernail and Johnson had run this rig one season they sold it to Amund Amundson, John B. Oyen and Arne Pederson, and these three pioneer threshermen threshed in the Watson community territory for several years. They even went so far away from their homes to thresh little jobs here and there that they did not get their own fall plowing done, one fall, for next years crop. None of them could say No, to an appeal for help!




The Amundsen-Peterson-Oyen Threshing company threshed for Knut Knutson the year after they bought the Silvernail-Johnson rig. They started on four wheat stacks near Knut's granary one afternoon and Knut was going to do the grain measuring and grain hauling. Amund Amundson and Arnt Pederson did the feeding and attended to the running of the Separator, and Oyen was the driver on the horse power. The rig started running but Knut had not brought any wagon or team for grain hauling to the Separator. When he got one sack ruled he hung an empty sack on the measuring device while he run over to his granary and emptied the full sack.




In those days they measured the grain out of the separators in half bushel measures, which required a lot of extra stooping and work, but Knut rigged up the grain measuring apparatus to suit himself. It was not long tho, before Amund Amundson who liked fun went over to the phenomenal grain hauler and tried to get him interested in conversation in hopes that Knut will forget himself and dump some grain on the ground, but Knut refused to get absent minded. Then Amund called for more speed and they threshed to beat the band for a while, but it did not help any for Knut sped up too and instead of taking one sack at a time to his granary he now picked up one in either hand as if though they were peanut bags and emptied them into his granary. They claimed that Knut carried away every bushel of wheat out of those four grain stacks without any help whatsoever, and they spoke of this physical strength and endurance stunt with great respect afterwards. Another Pioneer thresherman in the Watson community territory was Christian Kanten who even went over into Lac qui Parle conty and threshed for some of the earliest settlers.




THE HORSE POWER THRESHING MACHINE




Say, can you remember the threshing machine

That was used in the pioneer days?

The horse power driven machine that was seen

On the farms, and its cumbersome Ways?

With its tumbling rods, knuckles, and chains, and stakes,

And the horses that walked in a ring,

And the power's big wheels, and pinions, and brakes,

And the threshing machine that could sing?

*****

And do you remember, the feeders also,

Those who fed the machine through the day,

With grain bundles hand-cut and ready to go,

How those feeders worked hard for their pay;

When bundles they shoved with a rhytmical swing

At the revolving cylinder's maw

Where they fiashed out of sight like lightning on wing

To appear in the form of new straw?

*****

And do you remember the boys who then cut

All the bundles ere bundles were fed,

And how bundles pitched by some erratic nut

Often hit the young boys In the head?

The self-feeders were not yet known in those days

And the feeding was all done by hand

With pitchforks they pitched away straw, a long ways,

And built straw stacks, high, handsome and grand.

*****

And can you, old timer, to end with, recall

All the work with those horse power teams,

How we unhitched, unharnessed, and fed them all,

By the light of the full moon's cold beams?

Soon all horse power rigs gave way to the steam,

After steam came the tractors we see,

But there will be work for the trustworthy team

No matter what tractors there be!


CHAPTER 9




PIONEER MINISTERS OF THE GOSPEL




Rev. Nels Brandt officiated at religious services at the home of Knut Angrimson in the year 1869. He is the first Minister of the Gospel known to have officiated in the Watson community territory. A little later during the same year Rev. John T. Moses of the Norway Lake settlement near Willmar officiated at religious services and functions in homes in the community where they required religious ministrations. Shortly after his visit to this community Rev. John T. Moses had a disagreement with members of the Norway Lake congregation which resulted in his resignation as pastor of that church. Rev. Lars J. Markhus was called as his successor to the unexpired pastorate and he also visited the Watson community and officiated at religious services in the fall of the year 1869.




In the year 1870 the Immanuel Congregation was organized at the home of Sundov Alleckson and the Reverend Lars J. Markhus was called to serve as the Pastor of this first pioneer Watson community territory congregation. The Norway Lake settlement, it is true, extended into the northeastern corner of Swift county, but Rev. L. J. Markhus did not live there. He undertook to drive from his home near Willmar to the first Watson community territory congregation four times a year for ten dollars per round trip, or a total salary of forty dollars a year. He was not exactly overcharging anyone but himself; or what do you think?




Driving across the prairie on the primitive trails of those years, through mud holes, around sloughs, making huge detours to get somewhere, was no joy ride and he actually drove a round trip of at least one hundred and twenty miles; not in an automobile, but probably with a horse and a buggy and possibly, at times, with a yoke of oxen. And he was the same Rev. Lars J. Markhus who, through the quarrel in his Norway Lake congregation that was fomented over the inalienable predestination doctrine, was insulted by his opponents calling to their aid a wily Willmar attorney, who had members of his congregation carry the sincere old pioneer pastor from the church altar out into the church entry where they deposited him on the floor, some fifteen years later.




We regard Lars J. Markhus as a good honest man who was devoted to his ideals of Christianity as he understood them, a man who acted and lived only according to those ideals and not only for self-glorification, comforts, and munificient salary. He was a good pioneer worker in his chosen profession, a community builder, and a staunch, nervy, defender of his faith and those of his faith in that church war in Norway Lake. And we will never be able to see anything either humorous or meritorious in that once so ridiculed and much advertised church squabble in Norway Lake. It was at its best nothing less than an outrage and desecration of ideals, faith, and human decency; and Rev. Lars J. Markhus would have been a happier man could he have remained with the peaceful, law abiding and level headed pioneers of the Watson community territory.




One summer, when I was ten or eleven years old, I caught five good sized pike, one Saturday afternoon in the Chippewa river in Tom Amundson's pasture, where a creek joins the river about two miles north-east of Watson. And that is how I got such desire to fish that it was hard for me to stay away from that river the rest of that summer. One forenoon when I started fishing pretty early, but had no luck, I left the creek mouth and went up to the mill dam, but I did not get a single strike there either. From there, with a small boy's impulse to keep on hunting for new wishing places, I walked north up along the river.




I was pretty near straight west of the river from the Rev. O. E. Solseth farm when I walked against a man on the river bank. He was holding a long cane fish pole out over the river. He wore an old straw hat and overalls and if it had not been for his distinguishing whiskers I would not have recognized the man right away. Having an awesome respect for preachers who were said to punish small boys guilty of whistling and whittling and having done both that day I started to move on.




No, said Rev. O. E. Solseth, "come, let's sit down a while." We sat down and I flung my fish line out in the river too, but I forgot all about the fishing for Rev. Solseth was in his deem calm, friendly voice delivering an impromptu lecture on fish, and their habits, and where the best fishing places should be along the river. And what I liked best of all was that he talked to me as if though it was the most ordinary thing in the world for him and me to sit there and talk about those things. He never once stared fiercely at me either as some brave self-important big men do at a timid little boy; and in memory I can still vision him, as he sat there, looking out in the river at his fish line, his straw hat tilted back on his head, his long arms hugging his knees, while we visited. - Well, I got home too late for dinner that day.




Rev. O. E. Solseth was truly a pioneer preacher in every sense of the words. He settled in the Watson community territory in 1872. He endured the privations and hardships of his fellow pioneers like any of them. He walked on skis over long stretches of snow coated prairies to those who needed his ministrations in the hardest pioneer winters. He rode thousands and thousands of miles in the performances of his duties, never in luxuriously upholstered automobiles, but behind horses and even yokes of oxen. He was a born organizer, tactful, unobtrusive, democratic and naturally friendly and kind hearted. He would rather give away his own money than hold out his palm for any that was not absolutely his. He ministered to the spiritual needs of Tunsberg, Kragero, Big Bend and Mandy townships practically alone for a few years. He was never a money maker but a friend maker and always a peace maker. He never ran away from his profession in search of a higher salary and greater comforts. He lived and died faithful to the last, to his ordained trust, his God, his conscience and his fellow men.




AN OLD TIMER




A narative based on the personal experience of a late

pioneer of the Watson Community in the Winter 1873.




In a dugout in early pioneer days

Lived a homesteader all alone.

A winter so mild that the sun's heating rays,

Almost daily more warmly shone.

One day to the timber that homesteader drove,

For a well needed load of wood,

A yoke of young oxen through new fallen snow,

When the sleighing was very good.

To the river timber he went on that day;

He was young and robust, and work was but play,

And he whistled and sang on the entire way,

That young man of Norwegian blood.

*****

He cut from the timber a load of dry wood,

And he loaded his home made sleigh;

Then he started for home as fast as he could,

For short was that midwinter day.

As in shirt sleeves he walked on besides his load,

His oxen were covered with sweat,

For the air was warm, and uphill the road

He must climb ere he home could get.

The sunshine beat down on the white soggy snow,

There was never a sign of a cloud or blow,

And where he looked at the sky or below

His eyes but tranquility met.

*****

Then as quick as a switched off electric light

Came a blizzard with high speed roar,

Engulfing him tightly and shut from his sight

His oxen and backward him bore.

Blinded and gasping for breath he strove

To face it again and again;

But backward that blizzard him easily drove

And facing it was in vain.

Along with the storm he then drifted and sought

For refuge and prayed while he hopelesly thought

That all of his efforts might profit him naught

Till he feared he might go insane.

*****

For a time that to him seemed more than a year

He stumbled along with no rest,

Benumbed by the cold blast and weakened by fear

Of the demon from the northwest.

The fine powered flour snow it coated his face

And choked up his eyes and his nose;

But, while he thus trudged on with weakening pace

The blizzard more mightily rose.

It roared and it smote him, lt shrieked and it raged,

A hurricane's symphony rehearsal staged;

A fight for their lives all live beings then waged,

For no lives could that blizzard oppose.

*****

Then ready to sink into slumber and death

He suddenly found a shack door.

It opened on neighbors who him them then met

As swooning he fell on the floor.

There safe in a homesteader's log cabin he

Soon came to his senses again,

And there in the log cabin he too must be

For anything else was in vain.

Though rough hewn and homely and looking quite frail

That log cabin, built without hammer or nail,

While it shook and creaked in that furious gale,

Was salvation's heavenly lane.

*****

That blizzard kept raging for three days and nights

So wildly that no one could see

The length of an arm to the left or the right

Whatever one's position be,

And when after five days that northwest wind ceased.

And men again outside could go,

The prairie, with valleys and ridges, was creased

With mountainous billows of snow.

But, under that white snow in eternal sleep,

Lay buried some settlers, and oxen real deep,

And our hero's oxen, a hard frozen heap,

In the cold then twenty below.


CHAPTER 10




MOSES A. PAGE'S SAW MILL AND FLOUR MILL.

Fuller - Folsom - Kitchel




Page's Mill, also later known as Fuller's Flour Mill, also known as Folsom's Flour Mill, also known as Kitchell's Flour Mill helped in a great measure to build the Watson community history. In the spring of the year 1870 Moses A. Page who homesteaded the farmstead now owned by Edward Solseth secured the assistance of his nearest neighbors, and many other settlers and they dug a channel about 20 ft. wide, about 16 ft. deep and about 500 ft. long, north and south, across a bend towards the east on the Chippewa river about two and one-half miles north-east of Watson. Almost straight east from the center of the channel they built a dam across the river. And then Page installed a water lock and turbine in the channel and built a saw mill.




His nearest neighbors were Brigt Johnson, Jacob Engleson, Amend Amundson, Tom Amundsen, Paul Golie and John B. Oyen. These neighbors used their ox yokes and wagons to haul building material. He built the dam out of logs, poles, brush, sod and rocks to weight it all down with. All the pioneers were young and hopeful in those days and it did not take so very long to finish the construction work. They were promised lumber in pay for their work if nothing more to begin with and they needed lumber very much. Moses A. Page was, moreover, a great organizer and builder and the village of Page, North Dakota, is not named after him for nothing.




Then, at last, one day the whole structure was in readiness to turn on the water power to start the machinery and to shove the first log against the saw. That afternoon the settlers gathered from far and near to watch the saw mill run and manufacture lumber, and they were not dissapointed for although it took Page some while that afternoon to get started. He finally got it to run and he produced quite a pile of lumber before it was time to shut down for the night, and then the settlerss expectations ran high!




But, Alas! - When Page got up early the next morning a big section of his mill dam was already well on its way towards the Gulf of Mexico. And then Paul Golie, Brigt Johnson, Jacob Engleson, Amundson Bros. and John B. Oyen were summoned again to appear with their ox yokes and wagons and they appeared promptly. That day they hauled pretty near everything that they could find, and were able to haul, into that mill dam and they were in some way or the other able to nail that mill dam down to the bottom of the river so some of it is sticking there yet.




Page's mill building was 30 x 40 feet in dimension and he run it as a saw mill until the year 1874 when he installed two run of mill stone and different mill machinery and changed it into a flour mill. Page's flour mill became a popular busilness concern, it was patronized by settlers in Swift, Lac qui Parle, Chippewa and western Yellow Medicine counties, and even some settlers from eastern So. Dakota.




During the year 1875 a railway survey for the contemplated construction of the H. & D. Division of the C. M. & St. Paul Railway was completed paralleled with the old Government Trail from Montevideo to Appleton. Then Moses A. Page who was an able surveyor himself, and also in a townsite speculative frame of mind, surveved and staked out a complete town site on the flat prairie, which is now a field, right north of Edward Solseth's farm house. Those townsite stakes could be seen standing in that prairie until Edward Solseth broke it up when he started farming the land. Page had undoubtedlv the hope that he might induce the railroad to come there. Then, about the time the final surveying across the hill where Watson is located was completed, Moses A. Page sold all his property to A. L. Fuller and moved to North Dakota.




Many an acquaintance was made and friendships were started, at Page's mill between settlers of Lac qui Parle and Chippewa counties that lasted for life. A pioneer informed me that he once in a fall one day saw twenty teams awaiting their turn to get up to Page's loading platform, and he claimed that they often had to camp by the river over night to get the service they had traveled a long ways to get. At that time Page's mill was considered the center of the community.




In the year 1879 the railroad, that settlers like Gippe and Silvernail had lived without for fourteen years, crawled in over the horizon and Watson station was built. During the years when the building rush was going on in Watson A. L. Fuller the new mill owner did a rushing flour business. He run the mill until the year 1884 when he sold it to Frank Folsom.




Shortly afterwards Ed. M. Kitchell bought the mill from Folsom. Kitchell was a civil war veteran born in Ohio who had lived on a farm in Sparta township until 1879 when he went into the flour mill business in Montevideo. Kitchell was a kindly, likeable, gentleman who had a lively and sociable big family. His oldest son Albert was one of the most inventive and able mechanics that has ever set a foot inside of Chippewa county. Albert helped his father build up the mill until it was a three story structure equipped with mostly modern and efficient flourmill machinery. But the business was steadily decreasing in spite of all they tried to build it up. More mills had been built in the surrounding towns. More flour was imported and sold over the counters in near-by stores; and the Kitchell family moved away.




Albert Kitchell remained in charge of the property and kept the mill running for some time in an adequate proportion to the requirements of the old customers until about the year 1891 when the mill caught fire one forenoon and was burnt to the ground.


CHAPTER 11




PIONEER HARDSHIPS.

GRASSOPPERS - BLIZZARD - PRAIRIE FIRE




The grasshoppers that consumed the crops in the Watson community territory were most devastating in the summer of 1877. They invaded a few settlements in Minnesota as early as 1874 but did most damage in 1876 and 1877. They did not, however, blacken the ground completely in the Watson community territory. On the bottom land immediately north of Watson and along the rivers and creeks they left a little grass for the cows and oxen, but all grain was eaten to below the surface of the ground. This pest of locusts changed the original population of the community into what it is today. For a great number of the original homesteaders moved out of the community, never to return, during the years 1877, 1878, 1879 and 1880, and their descendants would have made up a great part of our community population of today if it had not been for the impossible existence created by the ravages of the grasshoppers.




A description from a Canadian settlement dated back to the year 1818 may help us to a conception of how terrible ruinous the grasshoppers in their worst raids really could get. They descended upon the Canadian settlement in a sun obscuring cloud one harvest day afternoon. The air was filled with a hissing noise. as of escaping steam, mixed with a sound like that from flames raging in tall slough grass or brush. They settle in masses in perpetual motion up to four inches deep. Along a river they massed so densely that they could be shoveled with spades. Everything was devoured by them. All plants were first stripped to the bare stalks and then the stalks were eaten too. The leaves and bark were eaten off from all trees and all vegetation vanished as fast as it appeared above the ground.




The settlers attempted to burn them out by starting fires against them, but the grasshoppers were so thick that they extinguished every blaze kindled and soon left naught on the prairie that could burn. They ate through or into almost any common substance, wood, leather, cloth, and paper, and invaded the houses and fouled the drinking water and food. The only contrivance that seemed to impede or hamper them in their progress any at all was sheet iron coated with tar but that was too expensive to be procured by the ordinary settlers. Settlers with minds confused by the calamity lost faith in their future and moved out of the settlement as fast as they could.




It was not as bad as the above description during the worst year, 1877, in the Watson community territory, or, many who are living today would actually have starved to death unless they had been able to move out, but it was sure horrible enough and as near a total crop failure as the community has ever seen. It is almost incredible too how many of the pioneers had the moral stamina to survive the experience and retained means and the courage to continue farming on the same land afterwards. On a Sunday in the fall of 1877 the grasshoppers arose suddenly like a huge storm cloud and drifted away to the north-east and they have never showed up since that blessed day.




A BLIZZARD

In the first years of the pioneer's existence in the Watson community territory they never experienced a worse blizzard, nor has there at any time in sixty years been a more violent and longer lasting blizzard than the one ln the year 1873, which several writers called a Polar Wave. It came like a shot from the north-west on a beautiful January day, about noon, and blew without any perceptible let up or moderation, almost with a hurrlcane's intensity for three days and three nights; and it actually kept on storming from the northwest throughout five long days and four nights ere it finally stopped.




At that time between the east side of the mountains in Alaska and the mountains in Tennessee there were no stretches of forests or anything else to impede or break the speed of a blast of the intensity of that blizzard, coming towards the Watson community territory, except in the river valleys, too low down to be of any help; so that when that blizzard arrived in the Watson community territory it was running in super high. Some seventy-slx persons froze to death in Minnesota, as thinly settled as it still was, and an enormous number of animals perished.




The weather had been so mild and peaceful, and it was such a lovely January day, that most ot the settlers nearly all over the state were away from their homes when the storm arrived. At least fifty per cent of the Watson community pioneers were down in the Chlnpewa and the Minnesota river timbers cutting fuel wood and logs: but only one of them lost his life, although nearly all of the rest escaped death only through the mysterious guidance of that omnipotent something called good luck.




Halvor Alleckson drifted with the storm until his oxen bumped against a hay stack on the bottom about a mile straight east of Watson. He dug in desperation into that stack until he had dug a tunnel or cave into it and in that he stayed during the storm's duration, which was no little while without heat and food. His oxen too survived the ordeal being alee of the Chippewa river timber line, and the hav stack, and having enough to eat.




Some men reached Knut Olson's home which was then near the Lyngen school house, but the oxen belonging to them perished. The oxen driven by Anders Evenskaas perished right north of Arnt Waldum's farm home, but after a harrowing experience of hopelessly floundering about seeking a refuge Evenskaas bumped against the corner of Ole Waldum's log house which he could not see. He felt along the wall until he found the door, got it opened, and fell inside so fagged out that he was unconscious for some time.




Iver Restum lived on the homestead that Lars O. Stensrud bought a few years later. To his home came Arnt Pederson who had lost his cap and had a handkerchief tied over his head. Julius Olson and Helmer Olson and some other pioneers came there too including John B. Oyen who drove a yoke of young steers. Oyen lived only one half mile south-west of Restum's home, and while his neighbors warned him against attempting to reach home he took a desperate chance and started out. He left his sleigh and load, however, and went with the oxen holding on to their rope. The steep hill west of the creek bed broke the force of the storm a little and also served as a guide wall to go by; and a short narrow deep ravine connecting the creek bed with his dugout stable door made it possible for him to get to his farm yard.




He risked his life again in a three hundred feet walk between his stable and his log house. Trusting his life entirely to a sense, or instinct, of direction he walked right against the west wall of his house. The force of the wind was, however so great that he had to struggle all the time to remain on his feet, and the furiously driven fine powdered snow so dense that he only felt the wall of the house, for he could not see it.




Fredrick and Ole Teigen were returning from Benson. They were close to a settlers farm home on the Benson road when the storm roared down upon them, and managed to drive their oxen up against that pioneers house. He stuck his head out through the door and informed them hospitably that they could turn their oxen into his stable if they wanted to risk going that little distance; but, that they could count him out of it, under no circumstances whatsoever would he go outside in such a weather. By a desperate effort, which was also little less than miraculous, they located the stable, got the oxen inside, and returned safely to the pioneer's house, where they too had to abide until the storm abated.




Only one man perished in that storm in the Watson community territory. He was Sivert Klefstad, a bachelor, who had his homestead dugout by a little ravine on the west shore of the Chippewa river, what is about midway between the homesteads of Paul Golie and Ole Torgeson. When found after the storm, he was in a sitting posture with his back against a rock in the river bed. It appeared that he had circled around and around searching for his dugout home until so tired that he sat down to rest and passed into the sleep from which no one awakens.




A PRAIRIE FIRE




Prairie fires are practically a motion picture of the past in the Watson community territory. There are still meadows big enough in the community to furnish space and fuel for a sensational conflagration with the wind favorable for such a calamity; but the real dreadful prairie fires of pioneer days can never be witnessed in Chippewa county any more.




One day in October 1871, when it was very dry with a violent wind from the south-west, early settlers north of Watson saw some smoke on the south-west horizon but paid only casual attention to it. But in a little while they saw the fire on the top of "Rundhaugen," a round hill, one quarter of a mile northwest of Arnt Waldum's farm home, and one and one half mile straight north of Watson. So fast did that fire travel that there was really no time to save anything by preparing to receive it. A violent wind vas blowing it ahead like the fames out of a blow torch.




Mother had been on the homestead only two years then and father was away that day. Most settlers had plowed a little fire break around their houses, but no fire break helped much that day. Nearly all settlers had to concentrate all their efforts towards saving their houses and household effects and let stables and grain and hay stacks burn. Mother with the timely help of a neighbor's wife who was visiting her managed to save the house, but pretty near everything else burned. A strange herd of oxen, cows, and calves ran panic stricken out towards the Chippewa river ahead of the flames and billowing black smoke.




That fire had crossed the Minnesota river in several places, and while it was burning north of Watson it was burning simultaneously north-east of Watson and the Chippewa river, so it did not seem to stop for any rivers whatsoever. It was rumored at that time that it had started somewhere on the state line between Iowa and South Dakota; but no one has ever heard how far it traveled before it stopped. As it was, too many of the poor pioneers lost everything they had.


CHAPTER 12




WHEN PIONEERS TRADED IN BENSON




SNOW AND FLOOD




When, in the summer of 1870, the Great Northern railroad was completed into Benson there was something started. Someone had built a stupendously awkward grain elevator and hired a man named Clausen as grain buyer. Some pioneers had the opinion that he built it and managed it himself, but they were not certain, at any rate, Clausen was the manager and that fact all the pioneers learned before they had transacted much business with him. But the word elevator was certainly a misnomer for the principal grain elevating means ever used in that grain storage and grain docking house managed by Clausen were the grain elevating contrivances in the strong necks and legs of the oxen and ox teamsters that delivered the grain to Clausen. From the top of that so-called elevator driveway or bridge to the ground lt was at least twenty-five feet.




The bridge was so high that it was a merciless struggle, almost for existence, to haul a load to the top where it had to go. One team was not sufficient and they generally always had to hitch on a lead team in order to pull a load to the top of that swindling eminence. When they finally reached the top, the hopper, to empty the sacks into, was so high that a man six feet tall had to stretch his arms holding the graln sacks over his head to their very limit in order to boost the sack over the edge of the hopper when standing in the wagon box.




And then some days that man Clausen raved and scolded the poor pioneers as if though he was the Mussolini of all the grain business this side of the planet Mars. And he sure was the monarch of a great grain producing and marketing territory. He got all the grain then marketed by Chlppewa. Lac qui Parle, Swift, Pope, Big Stone, and Stevens counties, and most of that from Yellow Medicine county.




Pioneers used to relate that there were days when they could see in a long dark line of grain loads waiting to be unloaded sixty or more loads at one time. There were mostly ox yokes used then, but a few teams of horses could be seen in use even in 1871. Clausen did not only treat them rough when they were unloading, but he had a reputation for running everything to feather his own nest; so that one pioneer stated that on days when Clausen was in an extra mercenary mood of mind any settler delivering grain to him could be grateful if he got his empty grain sacks along with him home again even though he lost everything else.




One day when incensed at Clausen's crabby temper and fiery tirades a more than average muscular pioneer from Lac qui Parle county picked Clausen up, like police dogs pick up rats, and held him out over the high elevator bridge and shook him. Clausen pleaded with the man for mercy and was hauled in safely again. Those who knew the grain buyer claim the treatment did him good for after that day he was not nearly as abusive as formerly.




The road to Benson with a load was a long one in the pioneer days. It took most often four days with a yoke of oxen and two days with a team of horses to make a round trip from the Watson community territory. On nearly every trip some unfortunate teamster could be seen who had become mired on some edge of some slough or in some other mudhole and was waiting for some one to help him out.




A BACHELOR'S PET




Ivor Restum, who homesteaded the east eighty of the Stensrud farm and sold his land to Lars Stensrud in 1879, and went back to Norway where he is reported to have died a few years later, was a bachelor. The only company he had on his homestead outside of an occasional visitor was a pet cat that followed him all over the place. He thought a lot of that cat and talked to it while he did his work, and permitted it to make itself at home wherever it pleased.




He used to leave the door to the bread oven on his stove open in order to get the most heat out of the stove throughout his house. Then the cat when it felt cold got into the habit of crawling into the bread oven where it curled up for a cozy nap. Everything went alright for several years, but one day, an extremely cold day, Restum forgot the cat momentarily. He slammed the door to the bread oven shut, piled the fire box full of dry wood and went out to his stable to do some chores, and when he came into the house again discovered to his horror that his pet had roasted.




But it was not humorous. It was pathetic. That was the opinion of all his neighbors. For the lonesome man was so attached to his pet that he never got over the tragedy. It was the only household company he had in the world. He was a good hearted, good natured man, respected by all his associates for his friendly, helpful, and cheerful disposition until that accident occured, but he never seemed so happy afterwards.




A FISH STORY




One bright June morning in the early seventies Hans Halvorson came across the river to John B. Oyen on some errand. He was seen walking down towards the creek at a normal pace until he disappeared from view in the creek valley. Shortly afterwards he reappeared running up the hill towards the house. When he got within hailing distance he shouted: "The creek is full of fish!Buffalo fish!"




And that creek sure was full of fish. Every individual buffalo fish seemed to be fighting his fellows for space to proceed up that stream until those on the sides were repeatedly crowded into the tall slough grass that lined the edges of the creek banks. Halvorson and Oyen notified their neighbors and they came and helped spear buffalo fish and they loaded one wagon load after the other until way into the night. Then for several days they cleaned and salted fish until their fingers smarted and backs ached. But many of them had fish to eat for nearly a year. The buffalo fish invaded all creeks tributary to the Chippewa, Minnesota, and Lac qui Parle rivers in the same phenomenal manner that day that summer, for there were then no dams to obstruct their progress, but lt has never occured again since that year.




SNOW AND FLOOD




In the year 1866 it rained so in the later part of the spring that the Chippewa river went over its banks and the water stood way up  the side of the bluff that Watson is built on for a short while. Those who had dugouts or log houses near the river were glad to escape with their lives. There were several floods in pioneer days.




The late Henrik Egdahl who settled in the Lac qui Parle section of the Watson community territory in 1869 told the writer that once in a snow winter after one of the pioneer year blizzards he attempted to take a trip out to the Minnesota river and walked out on what he thought should be the edge of the river bluff. Not being able to see some well known land marks, some trees, he soon realized that he had passed over the edge of the river bluff and stood on an enormous mountain of snow. He retraced his steps cautiously to the bluff and walked south until he got down the hill to Frank Stay's home. From that observation point, by the river bed, the long ridge of snow sticking out from the Minnesota river bluff in a south-easterly direction proved to be a mammoth snow mountain. It was at least sixty feet high straight up and down as if cut off with a saw on its south-eastern extremity. It covered the space where the western approach to the Stay bridge is, and towered right over the river.




When the snow thawed that same spring there was a real flood in the Minnesota valley. The flood water went over everything except the very tallest tree tops, but the Lac qui Parle river was almost bigger. Held back at its mouth by an immense snow barrier it was one morning washing in on the fiat land that Lac qui Parle village is built on. This high water stage did not, however, last very many hours for as soon as the ponderous mass of ice and water had forced out the snow barriers it did not take it long to recede.


CHAPTER 13




WATSON WHEN STARTED




The final railroad survey of the H. & D. division of the C. M. & St. Paul railway was completed through Watson in the summer of 1878 and the construction of buildings on the right-of-way was started immediately afterward. Hence the earliest and oldest building in Watson, still standing, was built in the fall of 1878. It was C. V. Lang's grain elevator which for many years was managed by O. W. McKinstry. It was still longer known as the Hanson & Walstad elevator. It is still being run in the fifty-third year of its existence. It is now owned by the Farmers Union Elevator company and managed by Ed Anderson.




The second building erected in Watson was the passenger and freight depot completed in the spring of 1879. It is stated in a history published in 1882 that Lewis Peterson, a native of Denmark, who was a carpenter by trade, built the first store building early in the summer of 1879. It was built on the lot now occupied by Mrs. John Haugland's residence. It was a furniture store owned and managed by Lewis Peterson many years.




The second store building was built by Iverson Brothers on the corner lot where the First State Bank of Watson now stands. Hans Iverson and Helger Iverson started in the general store business there in the fall of 1879. And pretty near as early that fall Theodore Hanson of Benson had built his general store and lumber yard buildings west of the track, on the corner right south-east of the Watson town well, and had hired Ole Eidem as manager, and he started that business concern in the fall of 1879. These business places with a very few dwelling houses finished the building operations during the fall of 1879.




There was a district school ln session in the fall of 1879 either in Watson or in the near-by vicinity of Watson. That much is certain. One authority who attended school that fall claims that the school house stood on Iver H. Kanten's land. less than one mile west of Watson, and that it was, a little later, moved into the village and placed on the present school house site; another authority claims that school was held that fall in temporary quarters in Watson prepratory to moving the school house into Watson. And the writer can not tell because he was not among the living at that time. At any rate it is verltled that the school teacher was an amiable man named E. Mandt who was very much interested in the building and progress of the village of Watson, and thereto is attached an interesting little episode.




It appears that when the Watson station, what we commonly know as the depot, was built no name whatsoever had been painted on it, neither did any one know what the name was to be. The townsite was all platted; lots had been sold and paid for; buildings had already been erected and were having the finishing work done in them. The grading was all done: the railroad ties and rails had all been placed and connected up from Montevideo to Appleton. The work trains and their crews were picking up their tools and gathering surplus building material along the right-of-way prepartory to their departure from the locality and the commencement of the time-table railroad schedule service. In the crisp autumn air was the stimulating aroma of new pine lumber and shingles and fresh paint: and there nestling like a pretty baby in a dainty crib was the new depot; but it had no name.




The old teacher took this apparent neglect seriously and must have made up his mind that if no one else would give the village a name then he would. He hunted until he found a nice smooth clean piece of pine board and painted on it in tall glaring letters the name, "Tunsberg." He located himself a shovel dug a post-hole as close to the ends of the ties, or as near the rails as he dared. He nailed his sign across one end of a post and erected the sign post in the post-hole carefully; -  and the towns first name was "Tunsberg."




And it was "Tunsberg" throughout the night. Dawn came and then the sun crept up over the eastern horizon, and it was still "Tunsberg." There were many watching that new name on the post when the brave teacher and his pupils saw the smoke of an approaching train to the S-E. It may be presumed that there were faint hopes that it was the railroad superintendent's train and that he might at least nod approvingly at the new name.




But, Alas! - It was only one of those construction trains going by again for something or the other. It stopped and the train crew stalled around the depot for a while as if though looking for something, and then the train moved on again. When the caboose drew by the name-post "Tunsberg" out on the caboose step trotted a vandal of a brakeman, out in the air flashed his lanky leg, and crack! - and the name "Tunsberg" flew off the post splintered and ruined.




It was not long then till the station was named Watson. And the teacher helped in a small measure to name it and to create the spirit of independence of the village. He was a good teacher, one who believed in leading towards progress when those empowered with leadership would not utilize their leadership, and Watson has been a progressive spirited village at all times. He may also by sticking up on that post the name "Tunsberg" have fired the combative spirit and authoritative zeal of the H. & D. railroad officials to the point where they got some action on choosing a name for the station.




One thing is conclusively evident, no matter what caused it, and that is, that Watson is the clearest sounding name, the easiest written name, the best looking station name on the C. M. & St. P. railroad between Chicago and Puget Sound. It Is a great deal handsomer and good deal handier than the bigger and heavier name "Tunsberg" that the pioneer teacher proposed. But if it had not been for good old friend Mandt the railroad officials might have named the station something like Koochiching or Schenectady. They were apt to get reckless in pioneer days!




Watson seems to have been lead by the omnipotent hand of destiny to be built upon the fertile flat land in its townsite, overlooking the beautiful Chippewa river, with the finest natural drainage at its doors, with an unlimited abundance of the best drinking water in the world less than forty feet under its building foundations, with ample level room for parking space for any number of automobiles, with the most practical by nature designed and constructed sites for aviation landing fields and airports that can be found any place on the globe.




When we as individuals pass each other on the sidewalks, or in other public places daily, it it not within the power of any human mental ability of comprehension no matter what cunning, clever, or foresighted minds we have, to fathom the thoughts that are functioning, and plans that are hatching behind eyes we look into in passing. It is only a sixth sense, or an instinct, that can do that for us. But there is one thing we all understand without our thoughts ever dwelling on experimental mind reading stunts, and that is that there are not two persons to be met with similar eyes and the same expressions in their eyes. Eyes are often truly the reflectors of a person's soul, and then again, just as truly, entirely the opposite. Every pair of eyes, however, be they of the revealing or concealing kind, express daily some part of the personality of their owner. And in as great a degree does the general structure, appearance, location and history of a village's buildings reveal a part of a villages personality.




Yes, Watson has a personality. To most casual travelers it may not look any different than any other Minnesota village of the same size but its old friends know differently. When the second right-of-way was graded westward from Montevideo along the bottom or sag, right by Watson, below the hill, not so long ago, Watson was invited by the railroad officials to move below the hill, but it replied, "No, this spot suits me fine. I want to see, I want to breath, I want to stay on the level, and here I stay!" So it can without fear or favor be stated that part of Watson's personality is a red blooded vitality in a friendly, hospitaiole, individualism.


CHAPTER 14




WATSON AT EARLY HIGH TIDE




During a few years right after Watson was founded it was a bustling marketing and trading center for a huge agricultural territory. There were then no Madison. nor any Dawson and the farmers on more than fifty per cent of the total area of Lac qui Parle county did all their trading and grain marketing in Watson. They even came to market and trade from as distant points as Yellow Medicine county and eastern South Dakota. That was until the townsites of Madison and Dawson were laid out and those villages "boomed" in 1884.




And in those first five years Watson grew by leaps and bounds. In the early summer of 1882 it had three grain elevators with a joint capacity of 200,000 bushels of grain. It had four general stores, one hardware store, one furniture store, one drug store, one millinery store, one jewelry store, one bakery, one harness and shoe shop, one doctor and his office, one hotel, one livery and drayage concern: two lumber yards, two billiard halls, one dance hall, four carriage and blacksmith shops, and five saloons. Then the Irish brogue resounded, tangled up with the "Norsk," in the public places in Watson for Jim Connelly was the livery man and Mother Finnegan was also a resident.




To endeavor to reconstruct a mental picture of the appearance of a village as it was more than half a century ago is more difficult than any cross word puzzle ever invented. There are no early village records or photographs whatever available to aid one. It must all be based on, and worked out from, hearsay from those who were themselves practically naught but children at that time. - But, in the spring of 1882 Watson was on an equal footing with New York city in this respect that it had a prosperous east side and also a prosperous west side. It did not sing "east side, west side" very long.




On the east side, where the residence of Fritz Olson stands now, stood then Arne Sparby's ill fated carriage and blacksmith shop. Right north of it stood a bakery owned by Gunerius Husher. North of that, on the corner now occupied by the residence of S. K. Fosnes, stood then Melchior & Sparby's Saloon & Billiard hall. It was a double front building, the saloon on the corner and the billiard hall next south of it. Albert Sparby a brother of the blacksmith was the saloonkeeper. South of the carriage and blacksmith shop was a drug store that belonged to Tom H. Onstad and a dwelling house.




On the lot now occupied by O, N. Aamot's hardware store and the post office stood then John Potter's saloon and billiard hall. On the lot now occupied by the barber shop belonging to Morris Falk stood a saloon and dance hall but the manager's name at that date can not be positively ascertained. On the First State Bank of Watson corner stood then Iverson Brother's general store building, a busy place, that contained the first Watson Post Office of which Helger Iverson was the post master. There were also a few dwelling houses on the east side but not as many as on the west side.




On the west side of the railroad track, on the east and west running street that the town well is on, extending from the Methodist church east to the railroad right-of-way was then the prosperous west side. On the corner south east of the town well and diagonally across the street intersection from it, where the old foundation and basement is still to be seen, was the biggest store building in the village, the Eidem general store. Ole Eidem its manager was also in 1882 the clerk of Tunsberg township. Right east of the Eidem store was a big lumber yard building, and east of that on the west right-of-way the Hansen grain elevator.




On the corner straight north the street from the Eidem store stood Ole Isacson's general store building. Straight west across the trail or avenue stood the Hotel built and started by the pioneer A. M. Anderson but in 1882 managed by Dolvin & Bengtson. Right close against the hotel on the west side of the hotel, and fronting north stood Dolvin & Bengtson's saloon building. Right south of the hotel building was Jim Connelly's Livery & Drayage concern in a big livery barn.




On the corner right by the town well, fronting south was Knut Steenerson's general store building. Right west of this building stood Lewis  Petersons’s furniture store where Mrs. John Haugland's residence stands now. Right about where Mrs. Hagen's residence is now stood then Berg's saloon building. West of that saloon building clear to the Methodist church corner were more store buildings, and also where the Aamot, Espeland and Eiderm residences now are. In those other store buildings, at that time, there must have been the following business concerns not yet accounted for, namely, one millinery store, one jewelry store, one harness and shoe shop, and one hardware store. On the corner lot now occupied by the home of Hans Heieren was a carriage and blacksmith shop and north of Espeland's house there was another carriage and blacksmith shop.




The four carriage and blacksmith shops were owned respectively by; Rasmus Adamson; G. Pederson; Arne Sparby; and a man named Chapman. A man named Beamon managed the hardware store. Cling-Clang-Cling-Clang-Cling-Clang! went the blacksmith's melodious hammer all day then and took the noise producing place of the present day auto horn. There were no automobiles or tractors then and horses of all kinds and names stood along the rows of substantial hitching posts that lined the sidewalk curbings on both sides of the business streets. Some were restless, some were quiet, and some were fighting, but all were waiting for the time to come when they could go home to their feed boxes again.




The west side of Watson was only just a little bigger than the east side until a Sunday in July 1882. There was a meeting in the Zion church that Sunday at the regular hour, but being that it was yet only the horses and lumber wagon go-to-meeting age the Haugland family could not have driven through the street in Watson much earlier on their return from church than about 1:30 p.m.




Gullick Haugland who was a small boy at that time remembers, however, distinctly that when they drove past Melchoir & Sparby's saloon he saw Albert and Arne Sparby come from the saloon on the corner and go into the carriage and blacksmith shop. And he saw shortly afterwards black smoke arising from the roof of that shop. There was only a gentle breeze from the north-west that day but the village had no fire protection at all that could come with such an emergency at that time, and it was not long before the entire block of buildings was destroyed by the flames.


CHAPTER 15




PIONEERS AND PIONEER BUILDINGS OF WATSON




No word in the dictionary has apparently been more abused and stretched than the word Pioneer. In Funk & Wagnall's dictionary it is defined: "one who goes before to remove obstacles and prepare the way for others." Webster's New International dictionary defines it: "one who goes before, as into the wilderness, preparing the way for others to follow." Any one who comes into a community from three to forty years after a township has been organized, roads laid out, and schools started, can not be classified as a pioneer by any one who has any respect for truth and consistency. And that also applies to the history of any village. - There can only be pioneers and the children of the pioneers and that is as far as the meaning of the word pioneer can be stretched.




It will be absolutely impossible at this time to attempt to trace the whereabouts of the numerous families who during the bygone years have lived in Watson, but it is partly possible to trace the movements and evolutions of pioneer buildings, that means the buildings built by pioneers. One can that way recall names of pioneers and other early members of Watson's population who once occupied those buildings.




The hotel was built by the Watson community pioneer A. M. Anderson who settled on a homestead south of Watson in 1869. A. S. Green was apparently its next short term proprietor. Then Ole Isaacson managed it for a short while. Then Dolvin & Bengtson were its proprietors during a saloonkeeping era on the west side that Watson experienced. Madison Owens was a subsequent owner of the hotel, and then George Webster moved to Watson and became its manager. Then Sam Fuller was its proprietor for many years until Ole Klefstad bought the building and wrecked it and erected the handsome building which is now Watson’s only hotel.




Dr. William Manderfelt born and educated in Prussia became shortly after his immigration a surgeon in the Union army. Before he moved to Watson he was stationed at a military camp in one of the southern states. He came to Watson and engaged in the practice of Medicine in 1880, but we are unable to ascertain exactly in what pioneer building his abode and office was located.




A man named Berg built a saloon building west of the hotel. It was a Watson pioneer building. It stood there, where it was built, many years. Then Martin Myhre bought it and had it moved to the east side. Then he was appointed post master and later telephone central manager and for many years this building was the home of the Watson post office and the local telephone switch board. - It is now Sigurd Olson's popular Billiard Hall.




Golie Brothers built a building for a saloon. This building was once Halvor Marken's furniture store. It was once Tom H. Onstad's drug store. It was once the home of the Watson post office, A. Raaum, post master. It was once Brekken Brothers Restaurant. It was once John Oddan & company's restaurant. Then it was Mrs. Arnt Waldum's restaurant. - Now it is the Farmers State Bank of Watson.




Hans Iverson and Helger Iverson built the second store building constructed in Watson. That too was sure a pioneer building. It was at first used for a general store and the home of the pioneer Watson post office started January 1st, 1880, of which Helger Iverson was the pioneer post master. After being used for a general store and post office several years it was also for many years Watson's outstanding hard liquor emporium. After the saloon eon had passed it became a Billiard Hall. Then it was wrecked to make room for the First State Bank of Watson building and Doctor Seth Gilkey bought the old lumber.




Where the old Watson Fire Department station stood, straight north across the street from the Eidem store, on the west side of the village. Ole Isacson built a store building and had a general store in it for some time. Then it became Pope's drug store. After its drug store days were over it became John Waldum's confectionery parlor. After Waldum retired from the business it was John Svenskrud's meat market for some time. Then it was moved across the railroad to the east side where it has been used principally for a restaurant building ever since. If you like to see what one Watson pioneer building looks like today, go in and look it over when you are in Watson. You are always welcome! It is now the home of the neatest and handsomest restaurant establishment that Watson ever had. - It is Fred Anderson's popular restaurant.




On the corner where Anton Dvergsten's store is George Beeman built the Watson pioneer hardware store and was in business there for some time. Then Heiberg's drug store was the next concern that occupied the building This store became famous for a certain R. & R. specific that the proprietor dispensed. Then the building was moved onto the lot occupied now bv Anton Solseth's store, and it became the abode of the Watson post office when Thorvald Kopsland was appointed post master. When Anton Solseth bought it he used it for a dry goods building until it was consumed in the fire that destroyed Peter Iverson's garage.




After Beeman's hardware store building was moved off the Dvergsten store corner Helger Iverson built a store building there. This building also housed the Watson post office with Helger Iverson the post master. Olaus Haugland was also a general store keeper in that building. Later on Baard Odegard bought the business and was the store keeper there until the building burned down one night. Then Odegard built the handsome brick building that the Dvergsten store is occupying.




The Eidem general store on the west side of the village was for many years the greatest trade getting store in Watson. Then Ole Eidem employed two men clerks regularly and they were busy at all times. His store, a pioneer store, was also once the home of the Watson post office, and Ole Eidem was the post master. After Ole Eidem's death Mrs. Estelle Eidem kept the store for a short while, and then Henry Christopherson was the store keeper there for a while. The building was wrecked about fourteen years ago and Alfred Sjoberg and Edward Stensrud bought the old lumber.




It is not known to the writer what became of the pioneer store building that Knut Steenerson built on the corner north-west of and nearest by the town well, where the low, square, little cottage now stands. There Knut Steenerson was a general store keeper during Watson's first years of existence. After Knut quit, Ole Isacson was the store keeper there, and after Isacson sold out a man named Hans Sandager had a store there a while.




Peter Loraas had a shoe shop on the lot where the new Watson Fire Department station now is and he moved it to Dawson when that village boomed in 1884. Ole Seam's jewelry store building is another pioneer building that was either altered or wrecked. It is stated that Ole Espeland's residence contains the lumber that was in it.




The Strong & Miller grain elevator which was the pioneer elevator was destroyed by flre during Watson's first years, but was rebuilt almost instantly. The first grain buyer managing that elevator that is known by the writer is Oluf Gjerseth, the Montevideo Attorney. He was also grain buyer for a while at the Hanson elevator.




S. K. Fosnes became the Strong & Miller Elevator Mgr. in 1889 and handled the business so satisfactorlly for thirteen years that when he resigned to go into meat marketing business the firm of Strong & Miller offered him their financial and personal support even unto building a new grain elevator and lumber yard in a new town if he would change his mind and enter the grain business again. The Strong & Miller grain elevator is now the house of The Watson Farmer's Elevator Company. And this company has a nation wide reputation for being the one cooperative famer's elevator company in the United States that holds the record for running the greatest number of consecutive years without a halt or cessation.




THE END
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